What difference does inclusive language make? Mapping out discourses in the Norwegian prostitution field



University of Bergen

Rebekka Mong Andreassen

Master of Global Development in Theory and Practice
Specialization in Gender and Development
Department of Health Promotion and Development
Faculty of Psychology
University of Bergen
30 ECTS Credit
Spring 2023

Acknowledgements

This study is my final project at the Master's Program *Global Development in Theory and Practice* at the University of Bergen. This has been a process that has been full of challenges, highlights, and valuable lessons. I have many people I wish to express my gratitude to.

First and foremost, I wish to express my gratitude to all of my wonderful participants that accepted my request to be a part of this study. Thank you for taking your time to share your insightful wisdoms, reflections, and patience (especially when it came to my, at times, digital incompetence). I would also like to give my sincere thanks to my contacts at FOKUS – Forum for Women and Development, where I conducted my internship, for your never-ending kindness.

I express my greatest gratitude to my supervisor at University of Bergen, Siri Lange. Thank you for support, guidance, resources, and advice. I am especially grateful for always showing great enthusiasm for this study and my ideas, which encouraged me to push on with this project.

My heartfelt thanks to all my dear family & friends who has supported me throughout this project, it means everything. Especially thanks to Synne, Kathrine & Marie for always brightening my mood, being by my side, encouraging words and for spending hours this semester listening to me talk about my thesis. Finally, thank you Jørgen, for your continuous love and support, for proof-reading, for always believing in me, and for always making me laugh.

Table of contents

1 Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Context – The development of policies regarding prostitution in Norway	2
1.3 Research Questions	4
1.4 Structure of the thesis	4
2 Conceptual framework	5
2.1 Discourse theory & analysis	5
2.2 Empowerment theory	6
3 Literature review	9
3.1 Attitudes from the feminist movement	9
3.1.1 Radical feminist approach	10
3.1.2 Liberal feminist approach	10
3.1.3 Towards a new approach to prostitution	11
3.2 Norwegian context	11
3.4 Gaps in literature	12
4 Research design & methodology	13
4.1 Research design	13
4.2 Study area	13
4.3 Participants	14
4.3.1 Recruitment criteria	14
4.3.2 Recruitment process	14
4.4 Methods of data collection and accumulation	15
4.5 Data management plan	15
4.6 Data analysis model	16
4.7 Trustworthiness of research	16
4.8 Role of the researcher	17
4.9 Ethical considerations	18
4.9.1 Informed consent & confidentiality	18
4.9.2 Ethical clearance	19
4.10 Challenges and limitations	19
4.10.1 Recruiting participants	19
4.10.2 Meeting on Zoom / Teams	19
4.10.3 Time management	20
5 Norwegian CSOs: mapping out different actors in the field	22
5.1 Presentation of Organisations	

	5.1.1 Lightup	. 22
	5.1.2 Marita Women	. 23
	5.1.3 PION	. 23
	5.1.4 Pro Sentret	. 23
	5.1.5 ROSA	. 24
6	Prostitution and sex-work: Diverging viewpoints on contested terms	. 25
	6.1 "Prostitute" – an outdated term	. 25
	6.1.1 "Prostitute – Self-perception and stigma	. 26
	6.1.2 Stigma	. 27
	6.1.3 Addressing people selling sex	. 28
	6.2 Opinions on the term "sex work"	. 29
	6.3 Passivating discourse – "helpless victims" vs. "happy sex workers"	. 31
	6.4 Including & reaching target groups	. 35
	6.5 Summary of findings	. 37
7	Discussion	. 38
	7.1 Echoes from the feminist "sex wars"	. 38
	7.2 From "prostitute" towards?	. 39
	7.3 Discourse shapes organisations; Organisations shapes discourse	. 42
	7.4 Gender dimension	. 45
	7.5 Limitations and strengths of the study	. 46
8	Conclusion	. 48
	8.1 Recommendations for further research	. 50
9	Bibliography	. 51
Αį	ppendices	. 58
	Appendix 1: Interview guide	. 58
	Appendix 2: Information letter & Consent form	. 60
	Appendix 3: Approval from NSD / Sikt	. 63
	Appendix 4: Norwegian / English translation – Quotes	. 64

Abstract:

People in prostitution are frequently referred to in derogatory and condescending ways. Contemporary debates on prostitution have been characterized by diverging feminist approaches. These approaches are rooted in contesting assumptions about prostitution, and policies. At the same time, poverty, the upsurge in natural disasters, and wars increase the risk for vulnerable people to get sex trafficked, something that has made human trafficking and prostitution closely linked together. Norway has a unique approach to prostitution policy and have what is called a "Sex Purchase Act". This act criminalizes buying sex, while selling sex is legal. The debates about prostitution, and how we talk about people in prostitution are particularly interesting in a time when people are opposing "wokeness", and what is perceived as a way of policing language.

This thesis aims to explore how organisations working in the fields of prostitution and/or human trafficking experience the prostitution discourse. Additionally, it aims to explore why it is important to care about discourse, especially in relation to marginalized groups. Data was collected through a qualitative study which included five in-depth interviews with seven participants, representing different organisations in the field. The data was coded inductively, using discourse analysis and empowerment as the conceptual frameworks.

All the organisations made attempts to not use terms that they themselves find stigmatising or ill-fitting for them as an organisation to use. For instance, all organisations have shifted from using the term "prostitute" as it is perceived as negatively framing a person in prostitution. However, all organisations still use the term "prostitution", since it does not say anything about the person involved. Furthermore, the thesis explores and discusses how the organisations talk about the term "sex work", and the binary categories of "helpless victim" and "happy sex worker" that have been proposed by public media. This study proposes that being conscious about discourse is a tool for the organisations to care about their clients. It is also important to understand that all the organisations' reflections are based on their own discursive realities.

Key words: discourse analysis, prostitution discourse, prostitution field in Norway, gender studies, empowerment-theory

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

"Language is power, life and the instrument of culture, the instrument of domination and liberation" – Angela Carter.

Over the past year I found myself having several discussions with peers, family, and friends about the concept of being "woke". Most of the discussions are concerned with whether it is something that is harming or benefitting the public debate. Originally, being "woke" was the equivalent of being well informed and up to date (Oxford, 2017). To "stay woke" was originally slang for being aware of or conscious of racism constituted by white supremacy (Cammaerts, 2022). The term has since expanded from its original roots in black culture. "Woke" can be defined as being a person that is aware and actively conscious about societal facts and issues, especially of racial or societal justice (Merriam-Webster, 2023). Social media and digital culture have simultaneously given the term its immense popularity and facilitated its downfall (Vela, 2022). Appearing "woke" on digital platforms is something that has up until recently been viewed as desirable by activists and celebrities. However, there has been a growing body of critique against this notion the last couple of years, and it has been deemed as "virtue signalling" which has contributed to distancing the term from its original meaning (Sobande, Kanai & Zeng, 2022). Moreover, it has since become a term that has been used to ridicule the people in favour of using the term (Vela, 2022), typically as a form of right-wing humour used against "sensitive" people belonging to the political left (Sobande, Kanai & Zeng, 2022). In Norway, popular news outlets write stories about young people calling themselves "anti-woke" criticising it for being political correctness going "too far" (Pang, 2023), while other actors deem it as a method of throttling freedom of speech and withholding democratic values (Bandehy, 2023). Furthermore, "woke-culture" is blamed for policing language and terminology (Cooperman, 2023). Is "woke-culture" nothing but a tool used by certain groups to limit freedom of speech?

This development serves as an interesting backdrop for this master thesis, which aims to explore discourses within the prostitution field. One argument often heard about (and from) people within prostitution is that they often experience being framed into stereotypical and

reductional categories (Stella, 2013). Furthermore, traditional understandings of prostitution are expanding alongside with technological advancements. Some of the prostitution field has for instance started to move over to digital platforms and have made experts on the field question whether "webcamming" or "sugar-dating" can be categorized as prostitution (Kock, 2020). Globalisation and migration led to an increase of migrants selling sex in Norway (Norli, 2006). This also heightened the risk of human trafficking, as wars, natural disasters, poverty, and illegal migration are all factors increasing the probability of sex trafficking (Andreassen & Holm-Glad, 2022). Paying attention to language and terminology is relevant for the field of global development in general. Scholars are for instance proposing to use terminology like "the majority world" or "the global south", rather than "developing countries" or "the third world" (Jakobsen, 2012). These factors call for a constant evaluation of the discourses surrounding prostitution; Thus, this study attempts to investigate some of the reasons why it is still important to care about discourse, and what kind of impact language can have when we talk about marginalized groups.

1.2 Context – The development of policies regarding prostitution in Norway

In Norway, the sale of sex occurs on primarily two spheres. The first one is called the" indoors marked", (*innemarked*). These are arenas where buying/selling sexual services is scheduled at another place than the public, such as in apartments or massage parlours. This is the most common form of prostitution in Norway. "Street-prostitution", (*gateprostitusjon*), happens in public spaces. It is common that the people selling sex are approached at set locations by the buyers (Norli, 2009). Migration based on selling sex has been prominent in Europe for centuries and has typically been associated with a high degree of mobility. In Norway it is not illegal for migrants who do not have a workers permit to sell sex, as selling sex is not recognised as work (Pro Sentret, n.d.b). While it is challenging to properly map out tendencies in the Norwegian prostitution field, there has been some observation made on how it has shifted throughout the years. The dominant group in street-prostitution before the turn of the millennium used to be Norwegian women with drug addictions (Norli, 2009). From the year 1999 there was a drastic influx of migran women selling sex, both in the indoors marked and in street-prostitution (Norli, 2006).

In 2000, the UN convention against transnational organised crime released the Palermoprotocol, which aimed to supress and prevent trafficking in human beings. This protocol called especially for the protection of young children and women (General Assembly, 2001, p. 32). In 2008 the Norwegian government introduced a new law regarding buying sexual services, which was implemented the 1st of January 2009 (Rasmussen et al., 2014). The law, called the Sex Purchase Act (Sexkj\phipsloven), was inspired by a similar law introduced in Sweden in 1999 as a mode to combat violence against women. The law criminalizes the buyer by making it illegal to buy sex, while protecting the seller by not criminalizing the selling of sex (Danna, 2011). Countries like Iceland, Northern Ireland and France among others have since decided to implement the "Nordic model" with the intention to combat exploitation and the demand side that drives sex trafficking (Nordic Model Now, n.d.). While the Norwegian Sex Purchase Act is an interesting topic in and of itself, it is not the focus of this master thesis. It is however important to recognize the law as part of the framework for the discourse on prostitution in Norway. Contemporary debates on prostitution internationally are often concerned with which method is best suited to address the issue. Should one criminalise the buyer as an attempt to minimize demand, or is it better to find a way to regulate the marked? Activists and feminist groups disagree with each other on what is the best approach, which is part of the reason that it might be a challenging topic to discuss. It is argued that contemporary debates on prostitution stems from the "sex wars" happening in the 1980s, where the two opposing sides were either abolitionists or "pro-rights". This type of rhetoric, that started in the US, still has an immense influence on how we talk and think about prostitution (Baker, 2015). The aim of this thesis is therefore not to argue for or against any approach to the topic, but rather to investigate the contemporary discourse regarding prostitution in Norway.

Discussions regarding prostitution, especially linked to the Scandinavian model, are highly gendered. One common perception is that buying sex is an act of violence done to women by men. This reduces women that sells sex to victims, while simultaneously eliminating the voices of male and transgender selling sex (Bjørndahl, 2010). In Norway there are various organisations that works for and with people in prostitution, and who have experienced different forms of exploitation. The purpose of this study is therefore also to explore whether debates surrounding people selling sex in Norway has a strong binary-position. The study will

also attempt to explore how the words we use about people selling sex might create a gendered bias within this topic.

1.3 Research Questions

This study aims to explore contemporary discourses within the Norwegian prostitution field. I wish to further explore how different organisations working with people in prostitution consciously use language, and how they reflect on some of the terminology relating to the field. The study will look more closely at the following research questions:

- What kind of terminology do five organisations in the Norwegian prostitution field choose to use when talking about the field of prostitution?
- How do the organisations reflect upon the terminology that they choose not to use?

1.4 Structure of the thesis

This introduction is followed by seven additional chapters. The following chapter presents the conceptual framework of the thesis. The third chapter reviews the relevant literature on the field. Chapter four outlines the methodological approach used to conduct my study. Chapter five briefly presents the organisations that were interviewed. In chapter six the findings from the study are presented. Chapter seven discusses the findings in relation to previous literature and the theoretical framework. Finally, chapter eight gives a conclusion to the thesis, and outlines suggestions for future research.

2 Conceptual framework

This chapter will discuss the conceptual framework of the thesis. I will use discourse theory and analysis, as well as empowerment as my conceptual framework. The theories will be presented and discussed, and relevant research using these theories will be presented. By combining these two theories, we can explore whether language and shaping of discourses can be used as a source of empowerment.

2.1 Discourse theory & analysis

Contemporary understandings of discourse theory are built on a framework for understanding social phenomenon conceptualized by Michel Focault. Foucault define discourse as an institutionalized way of speaking or writing about reality, which defines what can be said and thought (Bhattarai, 2020). In other words, discourses can influence the way we talk, think, and interpret a subject. Different discursive frames influence the way people understand the same phenomenon (Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen, 2018). In discourse theory language has a very central position, as it is both constructed and biased. The way people talk about an issue reveal something about their own personal beliefs regarding the matter (Gill, 2000; Jørgensen & Phillips, 2013). Human action is also assumed to be permeated by language. Foucault describes discourses as a social practice, with their own sociohistorical context of production. In other words, all discourses exist and are shaped by different contexts, actors, and historical milestones surrounding them (Carbó, et al., 2016).

Discourse analysis is a method to interpret and study text. There are multiple ways a researcher can conduct a discourse analysis, and no fixed ideal type. One of the dimensions researchers seek to explore using discourse analysis is how socially constructed knowledge and processes are linked to actions and practices, and how they shape the way we understand the world (Gill, 2000). Rosalind Gill (2000) argues that "It is useful to think of discourse analysis as having four main themes: a concern with discourse itself; a view of language as constructive and constructed; an emphasis upon discourse as a form of action; and a conviction in the rhetorical organization of discourse" (p. 174). Discourse analyses are dependent on the theme of the study and the researcher themselves. The analysis is often concerned with what ideals, attitudes and values that are deciphered in the written or spoken text. It is therefore possible to conduct a discourse analysis using data that has been gathered

and transcribed by the researcher, as is the case for my master thesis (Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen, 2018). A discourse analysis is meant to be used as a tool for the researcher to investigate how meaning through discourse is constructed and negotiated in socially relevant situations (Carbó et al., 2016).

Discourses and action exist in a symbiotic relationship. Discourse influences action - actions influence discourses (Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen, 2018). May-Len Skilbrei & Charlotta Holmström (2016) have investigated how this affect discourses on the prostitution field. When talking about how prostitution policies has been implemented in the Scandinavian countries and Finland they write "These legal reforms have (...) been influenced by different national and international discourses on prostitution, gender, sexuality, public space, social work, criminal justice, human trafficking and immigration, as well as by welfare state policies" (p. 1). Various forms of discourse analysis have also been conducted on the prostitution field. Some of the analysis concern how discourses regarding gendered norms and morality on people selling sex shape their sense of self (Jordal, Öhman & Wijewardene, 2020; Stenvoll, 2002). Others explore whether discourse on selling sex as "sex work" perpetuate gendered expectations to selling and buying sex (Weatherall & Priestely, 2001).

2.2 Empowerment theory

Naila Kabeer (2005) defines power as the ability to make choices, which suggests lack of power means to be denied choice. From this context empowerment can be understood as the act of somebody that has previously been denied choices, acquiring the ability to make choices (p. 13). Empowerment can be examined through three dimensions: *agency, resources*, and *achievements*. In empowerment theory, agency is when a person has the power to *make* and *act on* own life choices, regardless of other actors' opposition to this. Moreover, it is equally important to have a sense of agency, as empowerment is affected by how people see themselves, which will affect the way they are seen by society (Kabeer, 2005, p. 14). Resources provide people with the ability to make use of their agency. Resources can be accessed through other actors. In development work, resources are typically provided by Civil Society Organisations (CSOs). It can also be accessed through other forms of organisations. Padmaja Barua & Haldis Haukanes (2020) have written an article about female workers in India that unionized. They argue that the women achieved empowerment from within after

this unionization. Lastly, achievements can be measured through the individual's potential, which is accessed through their agency and resources. It is important to look at these three dimensions as intertwined, as changes in one of the dimensions will affect the other (Kabeer, 2005, p. 15).

Empowerment is a concept that is widely used, and it can hold different meanings depending on the actor. Moreover, the term empowerment has been criticised for being a buzzword that has diverted from its original meaning and value, and that has the tendency of employing a top-down perspective (Batliwala, 2007; Cornwall & Rivas, 2015). An example of a top-down perspective can be found in the Millennium Development Goal of "empowering all women and girls". The focus is often on how women are either victims of discriminatory practices or heroines that, after being "lifted" out from said practices, contribute to value creation in their local communities (Cornwall & Rivas, 2015, p. 400). When talking about women's empowerment the concept indicates that the person has in some way been disempowered. Empowerment is also not something that can be received through a third party. The third party can in many ways facilitate empowerment, but it is the person itself who achieves empowerment. Empowerment is also an ongoing process, with no end goal. Not all have the same opportunities for empowerment, and it is therefore important to employ an intersectional lens when discussing empowerment theory. Dimensions such as class, ethnicity, and gender should be taken into account (Mosedale, 2005). It is especially important to consider these in development studies, as ideas and modes of empowerment might vary from different cultures and classes. The global north has for instance been criticised for failing to recognise women's rights in the Middle East and pushing their own ideas of empowerment into the discourse (Abu-Lughod, 2009).

Empowerment discourse has been politicised throughout the years and have been among others adopted by social movement groups (Batliwala, 2007). Within the prostitution field, empowerment can in some cases be used to address what sort of resources and needs the people selling sex themselves identify (Wanjiru, et al., 2022). Another approach challenges the construction of a victim-narrative, as this takes away the person selling sex's agency and source of empowerment. This approach argues that both people who voluntarily sell sex and people who are victims of human trafficking should be empowered (Cojocaru, 2016). One

study also proposes that women's organisations can be used to empower women selling sex into finding a job that does not stigmatize them to the same great extent that prostitution does (Khanza et al., 2015). Alline Pedra Jorge-Birol (2011), argue that human trafficking victims should be empowered through other actors, like law enforcements and sufficient support systems.

3 Literature review

This section is a literature review covering mostly prostitution and human trafficking. I conducted the literature review both before and after the data collection process. The first part consists of an overview of dynamic, international feminist theories and attitudes towards the field of prostitution, which is ultimately linked up to the Norwegian Sex Purchase Act. Then I go through what kind of research that has been conducted in Norway on the prostitution field. Lastly, I address some of the gaps that I have identified in the literature. I conducted most of the literature search in English, as I found it challenging to find relevant and recent articles on the prostitution field in Norwegian. Almost all the articles were peer-reviewed. I used the database "Oria" and to some extend "Google Scholar" to search for publications. I ran several searches with key words like "prostitution and feminism", "prostitution and the Nordic model", "sex work and feminism", "prostitution debate in Norway". Using the same search words in Norwegian gave me far less and more inaccurate results.

3.1 Attitudes from the feminist movement

Sex-selling has been a contested topic throughout history. Annette Jolin (1994) argues that debates on the prostitution field usually harms the person selling sex, as they are usually heavily debated and not given the voice to speak on the matter. This argument is strengthened by looking more closely at how the image of the person selling sex, usually a woman, was perceived as either as a victim of (male) lust or a "contagion of evil" (Liggins, 2003). Some of the non-feminist critique of prostitution in the global north has previously regarded prostitution as something that can be perceived as immoral and sinful, all the while portraying the person selling sex as a greedy actor (Jaggar, 1997). Furthermore, early feminist attitudes towards prostitution perceived people selling sex as "fallen women" and stressed the importance of women to "lead the prostitute back to a better life" (Liggins, 2003). More recent feminist studies, seeks to move beyond these types of social stigmas of people in the sex industry (Hallgrimsdottir, Phillips & Benoit, 2006; Desyllas, 2013). Instead, contemporary debates concerning prostitution in the public are usually divided into two views: the radical view and the liberal feminist view (Vicente, 2016). For the remaining of this study, these terms will be used to describe these two central views on prostitution. As this thesis seek to move beyond this perception, I found it necessary to further investigate and describe the arguments from the opposing sides to explain how they can be contested. To put it simply: the radical view favours prohibition or abolition, while the liberal view favours

decriminalisation and depenalisation of prostitution (Beran, 2012; Sullivan, 2003; Vicente, 2016). As we will further explore in the next paragraphs, the question of morality has prevailed within the prostitution-field. Although, the blame has to a larger degree moved from the person selling sex over to the person buying sex.

3.1.1 Radical feminist approach

Prostitution has been a topic within feminist debates in the global north in the last 150 years. Initially, it was perceived as something that should be eradicated and moved beyond (Jaggar, 1997). This aligns with the radical view, emerging in the early 1970s, wanting to abolish prostitution as it is perceived as an act of violence done by men towards women that furthers the objectification of female bodies (Skilbrei & Holmström, 2011; Pollis, 1995; Vicente, 2016). The radical view also argues that the selling of sex by women always involves some degree of coercion (Beran, 2012; Jaggar, 1997; Robinson, 2007; Weitzer, 2005). The Sex Purchase Act in Norway, commonly referred to as the Nordic model, assume sex-selling as a form of exploitation of women, and criminalizes the buyer rather than the seller (Olsson, 2019; Pollis, 1995; Skilbrei & Holmström, 2011). In other words, the Sex Purchase Act is supposed to be understood as a preventative law that takes on a social responsibility and attempts to limit exploitation and trafficking (Jakobsson & Kotsadam, 2013; Olsson, 2019; Rasmussen, et al., 2014).

3.1.2 Liberal feminist approach

As a contrast, the liberal view looks at laws prohibiting selling sex in any way as something denying the person selling sex the right to control their own bodies (although there is disagreement within liberal feminism of whether people selling sex is practising free agency) (Butler, 2015; Robinson, 2007). Nevertheless, the liberal view often argues for the recognition of selling sex as *work*, thus lobbying for giving people selling sex more rights and protective laws. The liberal view also argues that a person selling sex suffers discriminatory practices from society (Scoular & FitzGerald, 2021; Vicente, 2016). Furthermore, it critiques the radical view for lacking an intersectional point of view which overlooks different vulnerabilities, and for potentially upholding inaccurate stereotypes about people selling sex (Brunovskis & Skilbrei, 2018; Skilbrei & Holmström, 2011; Weitzer, 2005).

3.1.3 Towards a new approach to prostitution

Parts of what makes this debate challenging is the concern and protection of sex trafficking victims. This concern has in some ways shifted the debate into discussions of whether someone is selling sex by own will or by coercion (Spanger, 2011; Sullivan, 2003; Weitzer, 2005). Some argue that researchers should look beyond the binary narratives of either the radical or liberal view, concluding that they are "ideal types" (St. Denny, 2014). Rather than criticising one side, and praising the other, researchers should evaluate strengths and weaknesses in both sides and move towards a more multifaceted understanding of the prostitution field, which aim to protect both victims and people identifying as sex workers (Beran, 2012; Sullivan, 2003). Ana S. Q. Liberato & Kathleen Ratajczak (2017) argue that further research done on the field should use a phenomenological approach, exploring the issue from the point of view of the people directly involved to form a more accurate picture of the prostitution field. Furthermore, it is argued that the binary opposition between radical and liberal feminist approaches are deeply rooted in a privileged position from both sides. They also propose the binary categorization of "helpless victims" or "happy hookers", which contributes to an emotionally loaded discursive field (Phipps, 2017).

3.2 Norwegian context

There is also some research done in Norway about how the discourse surrounding the prostitution field in Norway has changed. Trine Rogg Korsvik (2016) argues that the field has been through a paradigm shift, from what can be described as a radical view dominating the 1980s, towards a more post-modern, "neutral" view in the 1990s. By "neutral", Korsvik (2016) means that the post-modern view is not affiliated with any larger feminist movements and that it puts forward a more neo-liberal discourse on the subject. Nevertheless, the discourse in Norway changed in the year 2000, when Norway signed the UN trafficking protocol (the Palermo Protocol), which put forward the idea that by reducing sex purchase you would also reduce instances of human trafficking (Skilbrei, 2012). The Sex Purchase Act has been argued to be a preventative method of reducing instances of sex trafficking and violence against women (Jakobsson & Kotsadam, 2013; Olsson, 2019; Strøm, 2009). Contradicting research argues that the increased attention on this linkage might contribute to a negative impact and stereotypes about people selling sex. It has been argued that migrant women have been presented as "faceless victims", without been given a proper voice (Kock & Nadjar, 2015). Another study looking more closely at women from post-Soviet countries who

engage in selling sex, emphasizes that the perception of them as victims intersects with representation of themselves, and their class, ethnicity, gender, and nationality. They chose to identify as "proud women" or "proud Russians", thus rejecting the reduction of them as "only" victims or a "prostitute" (Jacobsen & Skilbrei, 2010).

3.4 Gaps in literature

I have identified several gaps based on this literature review. The first gap is that most research done on this theme is concerned with either the liberal or the radical view. Most of the research done on this field is also concerned with female experiences of selling sex, and it seems like there is little inclusion of an intersectional perspective. In Norway, a lot of the research is concerned with the two binary perspectives, and the Sex Purchase Act. Furthermore, several of the same articles are referred to time over and again, implying that this is not researched a lot. I was also unable to identify articles mapping out discursive patterns within the prostitution field. However, a small body of literature is attempting to look at what benefits both the radical and liberal view have, when discussing how to conduct future research on this field.

4 Research design & methodology

This chapter outlines the methodological choices for collecting and analysing data.

Additionally, I reflect on my own positionality as a researcher, ethical considerations, and challenges I faced throughout the data collection.

4.1 Research design

I applied a qualitative research design and followed an interpretive social science (ISS) approach. This approach finds it important to understand people's lived experiences and is concerned with questions of meaningful social actions and socially constructed meanings (Neuman, 2014). In this case, my role as a researcher is to understand the subjective realities of the different organisations that I interviewed. One of the benefits of using qualitative methods, is that it allows the researcher to gain a deeper understanding of their research area. In my case, it provided me with the opportunity to get a thorough explanation about the organisation's intentions and opinions on the subject, conveyed through the staff. Personally, I perceive reality as something that is subjective, which is the reason I positioned myself into an ISS-paradigm in the first place (Yilmaz, 2013). In the case of this research, quantitative methods would be ill-fitted in answering my research questions, as I am interested in exploring different discursive meanings.

Furthermore, the study was inspired by phenomenological research design. This approach is used when a researcher wishes to describe several individuals' experience of a phenomenon, aiming to uncover similarities in their experience. Data is collected to formulate a universal description of a given problem, it usually focuses on subgroups in a larger context (Creswell et al., 2018). This was done by interviewing representants from the organisation, that provided me with information about their organisations point of view and then by comparing it to a larger phenomenon (Brinkmann & Kvale, 2015).

4.2 Study area

The study area was Oslo, where most of the organisations I interviewed are located. This became the study area due to the following reasons:

- i. The largest organisations working with people selling sex are located in Oslo
- ii. I was in Oslo for an internship where I gained knowledge of the organisations

iii. The organisations in Bergen that I contacted were unable to participate

4.3 Participants

4.3.1 Recruitment criteria

In phenomenological research, the ideal number of participants are between 5-25 (Creswell et al., 2018). Ideally, I would have enough time and resources to interview as many organisations as possibly, providing my research with a thick and rich set of data. However, this is an 30etcs thesis which meant that I had a limited timeframe and capacity. I also had to take the number of organisations working on the field of prostitution into account. I ended up interviewing seven participants, representing five different organisations. When recruiting participants, I had the following criteria:

- i. They should be over the age of 18.
- ii. They work in an organisation that either works directly with, or works with dilemmas tied up to people that has experienced selling or buying sex
- iii. Participants must speak either Norwegian or English to understand the intent with my study, and ensure quality answers
- iv. They have considerable knowledge of their organisation's history, political opinions, and discourse

4.3.2 Recruitment process

Participants were recruited through a method which can be described as purposive sampling, as I contacted organisations that fitted my specific criteria (Neuman, 2014). In November 2022, I had an informal meeting with one of the human trafficking organisations I ended up interviewing. I had gotten in contact with them through my internship with *FOKUS – Forum for Women and Development*. At this meeting, the representative of the organisation pointed me in the direction of possible organisations working within the human trafficking / prostitution field that could be interesting for me to interview. I contacted the organisations via emails, which included an invitation to partake in the study, as well as information about the study and a consent form. This was at times a challenging process, which I will discuss in further detail in subchapter 4.10.1. All interviews were held on a digital platform and conducted in Norwegian. This was due to the fact that all organisations that were able to get back to me within my own timeframe were in Oslo and I am based in Bergen. The recruitment

process started in early January, and all interviews had been conducted by the end of the month.

4.4 Methods of data collection and accumulation

I decided to conduct semi-structured interviews, as this method is open, flexible, and provides the participants with an opportunity to talk more freely on a subject (Punch, 2014). By following a phenomenological research design, the questions I asked were open-ended and left room for reflection. I also made sure that the questions were always related to the phenomenon (Creswell, et al., 2018). The interviews were mostly one-on-one, in some cases two members from the same organisations joined. Although I believe that a focus-group would provide an interesting discussion on the topic, it could make it more challenging for some participants to speak more freely. Some of the organisations I interviewed have conflicting opinions on the matter, and although I believe that all participants would behave respectfully to each other, a focus-group could potentially lead some of the conversation astray. One-on-one interviews eliminated distractions, pitfalls and made it easier for me to compare the organisations experience to each other. Prior to the interview, I developed an interview guide, which I decided to share with the participants ahead of the interview. This was to give them the opportunity to prepare, and if necessary, discuss some of the answers with colleagues. Moreover, I chose to send the interview guide beforehand to make sure that the respondent would feel comfortable throughout the interview. I realise that I chose a topic that has been heatedly debated, and that some of the organisations might feel scrutinised because of this. It could also be challenging for the participants to answer questions about the organisation's opinion on the matter, without having some time to prepare beforehand. With the consent of the participants, I recorded all the interviews on a digital recorder. I used a notebook throughout the interview to note emphasis or points I found interesting and important to look back at when conducting the analysis.

4.5 Data management plan

I transcribed the data and stored it on a password protected computer. I decided to anonymise the participants' name by replacing it with the name of the organisation they represented. Two of the interviews had two participants, which is not separated in the findings and analysis-chapter. The recordings will be deleted on the 1st of June 2023.

4.6 Data analysis model

For analysing my data, I followed Braun & Clarke's (2006) understanding of thematic analysis, as it provides a more flexible approach to thematic analysis and does not consist of strict guidelines, compared to Attride-Stirlings' (2001) guidelines for a thematic analysis. This method seeks to identify, analyse and report patterns (themes) within data. It assists the researcher by organising and describing a data set in detail. One of the arguments for using a thematic analysis, is that it makes it easier for the reader to evaluate the research and makes it more comparable to similar research conducted on the same theme, as well as facilitating for further research in the future (Attride-Stirling, 2001). Braun & Clarke's (2006) method consist of six steps. Initially, the researcher needs to familiarize themselves with the data, then the researcher needs to generate initial codes with interesting features of the data. After this, the codes get organised into potential themes, these themes get reviewed and checked whether they work in relation to the coded extracts. Then the themes get defined and named. Lastly, the report is produced (s.87). Having chosen discourse analysis as a conceptual framework, I organised and coded data in accordance with how the participants use different terms. All data was coded manually, by the help of post-it notes and a matrix that I developed. This was at times a challenging process, as I had a lot of data-material. However, it became more manageable when I was able to identify similarities between the organisations' answers, and better understand the different patterns.

4.7 Trustworthiness of research

For ensuring quality in my research, I used Sara J. Tracy's (2010) eight criteria. I decided to use these because they made it possible for me to make a rich and thorough review of my research. Tracy's (2010) intention by creating these criteria was to recognise that research processes are different among scholars, and following all criteria religiously would result in unfruitful results. These eight criteria are therefore more flexible. The next paragraph will go through the criteria and how they fitted my research.

The first criteria is choosing a *worthy topic*, meaning that the researcher choose a topic that has not thoroughly been covered by previous research and is relevant to the political climate (Tracy, 2010). Most research done on the prostitution field in the 2000s has concerned the Sex Purchase Act, and whether it is effective in preventing sex trafficking (Jakobsson &

Kotsadam, 2013; Olsson, 2019; Strøm, 2009). Little research has been done on what terms and language the different organisations working with people selling sex, and what effect it has. I ensured that my research had *rich rigor* by ensuring that the data collection was done thoroughly and collected a sufficient amount of data. Throughout the research process I was self-reflexive, transparent about my intentions, and open about shortcomings and positionality, ensuring that my research had a high level of sincerity (Tracy, 2010). Credibility is achieved when the findings are perceived as trustworthy, and whether the findings are correct or accurate (Tracy, 2010). This was done by including thick descriptions from the dataset, and by including enough details from the dataset so that the reader is able to come with their own conclusion and impression of the findings. I also employed the method of member reflections (Tracy 2010; Yilmaz, 2013), by asking the informants follow-up questions, and making statements of informant's account checking whether I had understood their answers correctly. Moreover, the informants were invited to verify the quotes I wanted to use and provided them the opportunity to give feedback on the findings-chapter, in order to assure that the sentiment was accurate, which is called member-checking (Birt, et al., 2016). Resonance is used about the way the research accurately affects and reaches their audience (Tracy, 2010). A method of making sure the research has a high level of resonance is to ensure that it is has transferability (Yilmaz, 2013), which I achieved through providing thick descriptions of the setting, context and people. Additionally, this will aid the reader to decide whether this study is applicable in other research settings. There is limited research on the discourse on the Norwegian prostitution field, which ensures that the study is a significant contribution, as it generates new knowledge and encourages further research on this area (Tracy, 2010). Ethics are ensured throughout the research, which I will explain in further details under chapter 4.8 & 4.9. Lastly, the *meaningful coherence* requirement is met through the usage of methods that fits where the research is positioned within the paradigm and chosen theories. It connects literature, research questions, findings, and interpretations with each other in a meaningful way (Tracy, 2010).

4.8 Role of the researcher

Throughout the data collection process, I was aware of my own role as a researcher and the issue of reflexivity. This involved being aware of my own role as a researcher, and analysing what potential impact my study might have, as well as my own premade assumptions. I chose a topic that I found both interesting and important, which made it even more crucial for me to

be neutral when meeting with the different organisations. The researcher does inevitably affect the research somehow, but by establishing an agenda prior to data collection it is easier to be more subjective (Malterud, 2001). I also reflected over my own privileged position as a white student from the global north, as I chose to write a thesis of the discourse on a subject that I myself had no personal experience from. I wished to avoid contributing to further marginalisation, as people selling sex experience a lot of stigmatizations. I chose to study this topic because I wanted to give organisations the opportunity to express their opinions in a non-judgemental environment. It was important for me to ensure that the analysis was not one of my own opinions and assumptions on this subject. I was also aware that in this context, I was often considered as an outsider, which in some cases made it more challenging for me to gather data. At the same time, my internship at FOKUS granted me the opportunity to get to know some of the actors within the field.

4.9 Ethical considerations

It is important to ensure that the research study is ethically responsible, taking great care of the rights of the participants. The ethical considerations that have been ensured in this research was *confidentiality* and *informed consent* (Punch, 2014). Ethical considerations can vary from different contexts and different disciplines, but a common denominator for all research is that they need to receive ethical clearance from an ethics committee prior to the data collection (Green & Thorogood, 2014). When conducting interviews, it is important to be mindful of how the questions are framed, avoid pushing boundaries, and not discuss intimate details of the respondent. The experience for the participants is usually enhanced when they feel seen and listened to (Green & Thorogood, 2014).

4.9.1 Informed consent & confidentiality

Retrieving informed consent from participants ensure that the participants are not coerced, persuaded, or induced into my research against their will (Green & Thorogood, 2014). I sent all the participants an email with details of my research and a consent form. This provided them with information about what the data would be used for and what rights they had. Each interview started with me explaining my own background and purpose of the study, as well as a quick run through of how I would handle the data, anonymity, et cetera. It was also important for me to be transparent about my research motive, so that I did not risk that the participants felt surprised or tricked into answering leading questions. I also made sure to

assure to uphold the principle of confidentiality. This involved not disclosing any personal information of the research, and make sure that the participants were not identifiable (Green & Thorogood, 2014). The participants were asked about the organisations point of view, not their own. This made personal information neither interesting nor necessary to disclose for my research. I also offered the participants with the opportunity to member-check the quotes I wanted to use for the findings-chapter, which near all of the participants wished to do.

4.9.2 Ethical clearance

I received ethical approval from the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (NSD) / Sikt before collecting any data. The study was registered and authorised, after filling out a notification form stating the intent of my research. The study is also registered in RETTE, the University of Bergen's system for research project management.

4.10 Challenges and limitations

4.10.1 Recruiting participants

The recruitment of participants proved to be challenging. Some of the organisations' email address were well hidden, and they only had a general email address. This often added an additional stage, as I had to be redirected to the accurate staff member of the organisation. One of the results was that it took longer time for the organisation to get back to me. During this stage I also realised quickly that the organisations I contacted had a lot on their hands, and a busy schedule. My master's thesis is of course my own top priority, but I could not expect that it would be theirs. Many expressed interests in partaking but were at the time unable to participate due to other responsibilities. This is an issue I could have avoided by starting the recruitment process earlier. Some of the organisations did take some time to answer my emails, due to various reasons such as other obligations, people falling ill, and so on. However, in the end I received a reply from all the organisations I contacted, either accepting or saying that they were unable to participate. Three of the organisations that I contacted were unable to participate.

4.10.2 Meeting on Zoom / Teams

I conducted one interview successfully on Zoom, and the rest on Teams. I had originally planned on conducting all of the interviews on Zoom, but after experiencing technical

difficulties I had to start using Teams-meeting. I had less experience using Teams-meeting, making the second interview at first a bit awkward as I had to navigate the new meeting form on short notice. However, the participants in the second interview patiently and kindly waited for me to get set and answered all my questions, despite the technical issues causing the interview to last 15 minutes longer than initially planned. The internet connection was at times unstable, causing minor glitching in the video. However, the sound quality was always good, and I was able to successfully record on a tape recorder and transcribe all interviews. Personally, I would have preferred to conduct in-person interviews as this would be more efficient and comfortable for both parties. It would also have allowed me to get a proper understanding of the participants body language and potential social clues that gets lost on digital platforms. Nonetheless, I do not believe the lack of in-person interviews affected the answers from the participants in any significant way.

4.10.3 Time management

Four of the interviews lasted from 50-65 minutes, and one interview lasted for about 90 minutes. I found it more difficult in the beginning to manage time properly on a digital platform. For instance, the technical difficulties I experienced took up some of the time, and I had to more often repeat the question to clarify the participants intent. One of the interviews were stopped after 60 minutes, due to Teams-policy that allowed me to only meet 60 minutes at a time. We did successfully manage to continue the meeting, but the interview was considerably longer than the rest. It can also at times feel a bit unnatural for people to meet digitally, as it does not allow you to have a more formal introduction. The beginning of the interviews consisted of some small talk that did end up taking some of the interview's time. Additionally, some of the interviews got delayed due to technical issues with signing in and such. After conducting two interviews, I realised that I could have managed time in the interviews better. For instance, I noticed that I spent a considerable amount of time discussing the organisations background. Although interesting information, this was also something I could acquire through their websites. This also made the interviews last for a long time, causing both the participants and me to grow more tired towards the end of the interview. Nonetheless, I did gain even greater knowledge of the organisations structure and origin.

After transcribing the two interviews, I adjusted the interview guide and added more efficient questions about the organisation. I also realised when transcribing that some of the interviews at times went off topic. This was something I as a young researcher found difficult to manage, as I wanted to give the participants the opportunity to speak freely on the matter. Some of the participants also used examples or gave me answered they for various reasons asked me to not use as data. Even though I was unable to use it as data material, I found these anecdotes very interesting as it personally provided me with a deeper insight into the complexities of the field. As a representative, it is always important to be mindful of how the organisations are presented in the public sphere. The importance of gaining confidence to accurately manage time is something I consider today as a valuable attribute if I wish to conduct further research.

5 Norwegian CSOs: mapping out different actors in the field

This chapter is a presentation of the organisations I interviewed for this study. The five organisations that were included in this study can all be defined as Civil Society Organisations (CSOs), and they are based in Norway. CSOs is an umbrella term that is commonly used to refer to different kinds of Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) and Community Based Organisations (CBOs), and CSOs are often seen as the connecting link between state and society. Historically, CSOs are non-profit based organisations formed by volunteering members of society to advance interests, values, or identities (Veltmeyer, 2017). In Norway, many CSOs are partly or fully state funded. This is because they are regarded as playing an important role in maintaining the welfare state, democratic governance, and other types of public obligations (Saglie & Sivesind, 2018). Historically, CSOs in Norway have always had a close relationship with public authorities, resulting in numerous arenas for cooperation and dialogue between the parties. One can understand this as a symbiotic relationship where CSOs and public authorities shape each other (Loga, 2018).

5.1 Presentation of Organisations

The participants consist of three human trafficking organisations, *Lightup*, *Marita Women* and *ROSA*, and two organisations working as interest- or centre of expertise on prostitution, *PION* and *Pro Sentret*. They all have their own mandate within the prostitution field and offer different types of services. Additionally, they receive various types of funding for fulfilling their own unique mandate on the field. The organisations will be presented in alphabetical order.

5.1.1 Lightup

Lightup is a Norwegian democratic youth organisation, that is both politically and religiously autonomous. It was founded in Oslo in 2013 and were started by a group of young people wishing to combat human trafficking. They have sister organisations in both Germany and Austria, and they are connected through a board where each country selects representatives. They describe themselves as being the only youth organisation seeking to prevent human trafficking in Norway, and their vision is "A world without human trafficking and sexual exploitation". Lightup wish to provide young people with the opportunity to talk about and attempt to prevent different forms of human trafficking, like prostitution, pornography, and forced labour (Lightup, n.d.). Their target group is young people from the age of 13-30.

5.1.2 Marita Women

Maritastiftelsen founded in 1984, originally started out as an organisation for people combatting drug addiction. The organisation aims to help people out of challenging life situations, and to assist them in life managing. One of their services is the Marita Café, which serves as a meeting spot for people in difficult life situations and staff members (Marita Women, n.d.a). After a while, the café started to receive a growing number of visitors that had experiences selling sex and had different needs than the original clientele. Marita Women was founded as a part of Maritastiftelsen in 2013, originally as an exit-program for women with experience selling sex. In 2016 they started to provide shelters for female victims of human trafficking (Marita Women, n.d.b). Marita Women supports female victims of human trafficking as well as women who report that they are (or have been) in prostitution voluntarily.

5.1.3 PION

PION got founded in 1990 in Oslo and describe themselves as an interest organisation for people selling sex, regardless of gender, sexuality and gender identity/or gender expression. Their work is based on direct contact with their clients, and they aim to be visible for people selling sex. Their mandate on the field includes working against criminalisation, condemnation from the society, stigma, and discrimination. It also involves actively partaking in discussions about prostitution, on both a national and an international scale (PION, n.d.). They seek to promote the rights, health and political interests of people selling sex. *PION* conducts HIV- and STD-preventative work and offer their clients juridical help when necessary (Renland et al., 2020; Pro Sentret, 2021).

5.1.4 Pro Sentret

Pro Sentret is a centre of expertise for prostitution, that was founded in 1983 and located in Oslo. Their work includes client management with people selling sex, and competence enhancement and research done on the Norwegian prostitution field. Regardless of being based in Oslo, they conduct nationwide knowledge dissemination. *Pro Sentret* believe that all work on the prostitution field should apply a human rights approach. They wish for a society that does not stigmatize but rather shows solidarity towards people selling sex. Selling sex

should in addition not be something that the person perceives as their only "available" option. Prostitution is according to them not a personal trait but an action (Pro Sentret, n.d.a).

5.1.5 ROSA

ROSA describes themselves as an unofficial identification organ for cases of human trafficking. They are a part of *Krisesentersekretariatet* (*KSS*), an independent umbrella organisation for shelters in Norway working for a future without violence against women, interpersonal violence in close relationships and domestic abuse (ROSA, n.d.). *ROSA* were founded in 2005 based on the government's action plan against trafficking of human and children 2003-2005. ROSA's jurisdiction is to coordinate and secure shelters, as well as securing proper funding and information to adult victims of human trafficking. *ROSA* provides victims with juridical guidance, health care, educational opportunities, and other activities. They are a nationwide service, that cooperates and refer victims to The Church City Mission, and the Salvation Army's shelters (ROSA, n.d.).

6 Prostitution and sex-work: Diverging viewpoints on contested terms

This chapter will go through some of the main findings from the interviews. Throughout the interviews, I gained insights into the structure, target groups and clients of the organisations. All of the organisations were asked what type of terminology they used for their clients ¹, and of some of the other terminology used within the prostitution field in Norway. Despite having categorized the organisations into two primary groups, I quickly realised that debates regarding the terms used about people selling sex grew more complicated the more I learned about the contemporary discussions of the matter. I find it necessary to explore some of the ways the different organisations chose to describe people selling sex. I would like to remind the reader that all interviews were held in Norwegian, and the answers from the representatives are a reflection made on the discourse within the Norwegian prostitution field.

6.1 "Prostitute" – an outdated term

For people not working on the field, the terms "a prostitute" (*prostituert*) or "to prostitute oneself" (*prostituere*) might be most familiar. It is used the media, in articles, in documentaries and in everyday speech. It became clear throughout the interviews that these terms are outdated and not used by the organisations I interviewed. Based on my dataset, I have identified two primary reasons for this that was shared by all of the organisations:

- Wanting to describe the person as something else than just their source of income.
- This term has a lot of stigma.

Most of the organisations, regardless of approach towards the prostitution field, shared these two assumptions. The two reasons were also often mentioned after one another. According to the organisations, using the term "prostitute" can put a label on the person selling sex, which reduces them to "only" being a person selling sex. This was looked at as something that was both undesirable for the person selling sex, and the organisations working with them. In the next two subchapters, I will go deeper into the two objections regarding the term.

_

¹ It should be noted that while Rosa, Pro Sentret and Marita Women use the term client when addressing the people they assist, Pion uses the word "user" ("bruker" in Norwegian). As Lightup works towards political change and not directly towards individuals they use none of the above. For the sake of simplicity, I will use the word "Client" from this point onward.

6.1.1 "Prostitute – Self-perception and stigma

Organisations working with human trafficking shared the belief that calling somebody a "prostitute" is very reductionist. The person should not be defined based on their source of income, or what they happen to do. Although this view was shared by all organisations, the participants representing human trafficking organisations had a somewhat clearer emphasis on this. In the interview with *Marita Women* the participant pointed out:

Prostitute is kind of what is most used in our society. But I often say, "they are not just that", just like the rest of us. We are not only a "mother" or a "student", but we are also all so much more. And we must be allowed to be defined as something more than just that. It is so stigmatized.

The organisations also spoke of the importance of giving an individual the room for being something else than their source of income. This was also important to be careful of especially when meeting with their clients. This is a conscious choice made to ensure a more level playing field between the staff of the organisations, and their clients. Whether you found yourself in an exploitative, or voluntarily position, a person should have the right to be defined by other qualities. From the perspective of a human trafficking organisation, separating the person from selling sex simultaneously meant separating them from "only" being somebody that experienced exploitation. They also described the term as stigmatised, and in their experience, it holds a lot of negative associations. ROSA described the term as stigmatised due to its reduction of a person and stated that they would never say to a person "you as a prostitute...", as the term does not define the human being. Nevertheless, the term prostitution was still something that most of the organisations used. When talking about the "prostitution-field" for instance, or "people involved in prostitution". The organisations described their reasons for using this still, as it was not used to describe a person. Prostitution describes a situation a person selling sex find themselves in, and not the person itself. This was highlighted as an important distinction by the organisations: While prostitution exists, the people involved are not *prostitutes*.

6.1.2 Stigma

PION and *Pro Sentret* agreed on the importance of not reducing a group of people into what they do to get an income. However, they more heavily emphasized the negative stigma that is associated with the term. The term has historically been used about people selling sex in a degrading manner, thus making it a term that has too much negative history for organisations working together with and for the rights of people selling sex to use. It also has a lot of negative associations and synonyms. From the interview with *Pro Sentret:*

It is outdated and tied to many different things. If you go into the [Norwegian] thesaurus and look at the results on "prostitutes" (prostituere) or "prostitute" (prostituert) it is really awful. It is used as a synonym to degrade oneself, to dirty oneself. It is also used to describe somebody that is "selling their souls", for instance about a politician that "prostitute" themselves meaning that they are "selling themselves" and therefore lacking values and integrity. It has become a synonym that describes an act that is wrong, dirty and lacking integrity, to the extent that it actually is a synonym in the thesaurus.

Based on my dataset, and illustrated by this quote, I make the assumption that the organisations working more as knowledge and interest centres on prostitution have a slightly different experience of the stigmatisation of people selling sex when using the term "prostitute". This term is associated with exploitation and describes something that is done involuntarily. It is also associated with doing something that is bad, dirty, or undesirable. *Pro Sentret* and *PION* describe their work as aiming to make the experience of selling sex more comfortable and safer for their clients. It does not necessarily mean helping them out of prostitution.

One argument made by *PION* was that using the term "prostitute" does not imply that the person is working *with* selling sex, but they *are in* the act of selling sex. In their opinion, the term additionally gives out the association that the person is in an exploitative relationship. In the interview with *PION* they said that the term prostitute gave the association: "That one is caught in a trap, and in the midst of something. That you are a victim, and not something else, and thereof reduced to somebody that does not have agency". In their experience, there are

still some clients that they meet that talk about themselves as "prostitutes". According to them, this gives the people selling sex the negative association of being somebody that sells themselves and it can be harmful for their self-esteem. They chose to not use this term to fight negative associations with this term. For them, it describes selling sex as an exclusively bad situation where all the people selling sex is a victim.

6.1.3 Addressing people selling sex

This separation and wish to avoid negative stigma help explain how some of the organisations chose to describe people selling sex. How they address clients directly, varies and is something that we will go into greater detail later in the text. Some of the organisations addressed in the interview that they separated what terms they used when speaking among colleagues, and what terms they used when writing official documents, having seminars, and other activities on the organisation's behalf. The different ways the organisations refer to people selling sex, is in this part a representation of how they address these people as representatives for the organisation.

Most organisations working with human trafficking had different ways of describing people who sell sex, but generally they used a variation of "a person in prostitution". *Lightup* described themselves in the interview as an organisation that were very involved in the correct usage of terms:

We care a great deal about terms, and we feel like we are on a journey of discovering new ones. We encourage to use terms like "persons that find oneself in prostitution" or "persons that sells sex", because we wish to use as neutral terms as possible and not put a label on other people.

ROSA use the term "exploited in prostitution" (utnyttet i prostitusjon) or "exploited for sexual purposes". They also found it important to separate the person from the situation. "We would say "exploited to prostitution", not for instance a prostitute. We do not use what word." They assist all people that has suffered some form of exploitation. Most of their clients have experienced sexual exploitation and wish to find an alternative to prostitution. However, they

also support people that has been exploited but still wish to continue selling sex. *Marita Women* describes themselves as a service directed at all people identifying as women. They use the term "women who have experience with selling sex" (*prostitusjonserfaring*) when writing applications, etc. They use the word *women*, as they mostly meet women at their café, and therefore wish to emphasize that their clients are first and foremost women. They also use the term "experience", as some of their visitors to the café are women that does not sell sex anymore but does not have that big of a network outside the café. "It is important for me, to underline that it is an experience, but you are not defined as a human being by this experience. You are defined in an entirely different way."

The organisations working as knowledge and interest centres used terms emphasizing that the person was selling sex. *Pro Sentret* did for instance use the terms "a person that sells/trade sex", "person that sells sexual services" or a "sex-seller". They did not have a standardized norm, but most employees usually used a variation of that. *PION* also use the term "sex-seller", but most often they say and write "sex worker". The next section will look more closely at the term "sex work", and what opinions the different organisations have of it.

6.2 Opinions on the term "sex work"

The organisations were asked whether they used the term "sex work", and what their opinions on the term was. This part will go through some of the reflections that was made from the different organisations. I will first present the answers coming from the organisations that use the term. *Pro Sentret* said during the interview that they did not have any big objections against using the term. They did not use it in official reports and such, but it was used among colleagues. It could also be used to get some variety when talking for a longer period, as saying "people that sells sex" can be somewhat stilted in the long run. However, *Pro Sentret* problematised the term during our interview. In the interview, the representant from *Pro Sentret* pointed out that "sex work" is a somewhat broad term, which goes beyond the services that they offer. From the interview with *Pro Sentret*:

A lot of the research we do and our target group that we work closely with are the people that sell sex for money. We do not have a lot to offer strippers for instance, which could be perceived as sex workers. (...) Pornography is at any rate a part of it.

Pornographic actors, camming... We have those conversations. To what extent to we represent that group, and to what extend should we represent people that do camming.

PION raised the point that the term "sex work" in many ways contested the narrative of the person selling sex as a passive agent, and that it not necessarily always had to do with coercion or force. It also recognised that selling sex was a form of labour. In their opinion this could be harmful and a way of disempowering people selling sex by their own free will. During the interview with *PION*, they said that their clients called themselves "sex workers", and that this was what they preferred to be called. Another important aspect with this term is that it emphasizes the transactional part of selling and buying sex, thus giving the person selling more agency.

Sex work is a choice. You kind of take the power of definition back with it. The power to define for yourself whether or not you are in a bad situation. (...) Carol Leigh invented the term, to highlight the economical bit of sex work and play down the morale bit. It is about people selling sex, for various reasons. All international human rights organisations, among others WHO and Amnesty, use this term.

All organisations working with human trafficking informed me that they did not use the term "sex work". However, they did not have any objections against people identifying as "sex workers". Most of their scepticism towards the term, was tied up with the "work"-part. Some of the organisations pointed out that there is an uneven power-dynamic within selling sex between the seller and the buyer, which is something you do not find in a regulated job-market. Using "sex work" as a term might also undermine potential exploitation. In the interview with *Lightup*, the representative discussed some of the logical gaps the term might contribute to:

We refrain from using sex work. It is because we believe that selling sex cannot be juxtaposed with other work, and it camouflages a part of the exploitation present in the sex industry. It is also very vague as of who is the worker, is it both the one selling and somebody that potentially exploits them like a pimp? (...) some people can find

themselves in the sex industry before they turn 18. It is not the case then, that they turn 18 and come of age, and then turn into sex workers.

Marita Women & ROSA, the two human trafficking organisations working directly with clients, stated in the interviews that they for the most part did not work with people identifying as "sex workers". They often met people that wanted to find an alternative source of income and were victims of exploitation. Part of the reason that they do not actively use a term as "sex work" is that they wish to use language that underline that they have been in an exploitative situation. By calling this "work" it could potentially be harmful for their clients. It is however important to specify again that this does not necessarily reflect that the organisations are reluctant to let people identify themselves as "sex workers". It is rather linked up to their mandate as an organisation that works with instances of human trafficking and exploitation. It would not be fitting for them as an organisation to use this term, as they mostly work with people that do not wish to continue selling sex.

6.3 Passivating discourse – "helpless victims" vs. "happy sex workers"

This part will go through some of the examples where discourse can be passivating. All organisations found it important to reflect over the concepts you use, especially in meeting with marginalised groups. Words are perceived as very powerful, as it can both affect the way other people perceive a person, as well as self-perception. This part is mostly concerned with how discourses can put somebody into a category that might not reflect the reality. Some of the organisations pointed out that public media in Norway have had the tendency of wanting to frame the Norwegian prostitution-field into a more sensational way. During the interview, some organisations used a recent NRK documentary as an example of how people in prostitution gets framed inaccurately. This was a documentary about Norwegian massage parlours, which "investigated" its potential link to prostitution and sex trafficking. The documentary was later condemned for not following ethical guidelines for the press in Norway (NRK, 2023). In the interview with *PION* the representative pointed out that public discourse frames the participants as either a "helpless victim" or a "happy sex worker". Variations of this category were also discussed by some of the other organisations. They often have the binary gender-categories of a female seller and a male buyer. The next paragraphs will go through some of the reflections that were made on categories "helpless victim" and

"happy sex worker". The category of "happy sex worker" is heavily inspired by Phipps (2017) "happy hooker", but I have chosen to refrain from using the term "hooker" in this thesis as this is a degrading term.

Framing somebody as a "victim" can potentially contribute to negative stereotypes of all people selling sex. Some of these were explored when the organisations were asked about their opinions on the terms "victim/survivor" to describe somebody that has been sexually exploited. According to some of the organisations these types of terms could be beneficial to use in certain type of settings, for instance when wanting to emphasize that somebody has been the victims of a criminal offense. The representative from *Pro Sentret* also pointed out that these were terms that were probably more commonly used in English, and in a Norwegian setting you would rather use the neutral term "exposed" (*utsatt*) However, the main critique of both "victim" and "survivor" is that these terms can potentially take away the agency of both people exposed to human trafficking and people selling sex alike.

One of the criticisms coming from the human trafficking organisations were that the term "victim" in some cases fail to recognise how mentally strong a lot of the people they meet are. In the interview with ROSA the representatives said they would never go into a meeting, insistently calling one of their clients a "victim". This does not mean that they do not use the term at all. ROSA would say a "victim of human trafficking" in official documents, or in meetings, et cetera. However, the term is somewhat problematic for them to use in a meeting with somebody that has experienced exploitation. In a meeting they would rather emphasize to their clients that they have been through a lot of hardships, that were not their fault, but still had the strength to go through it. The representative from *Lightup* explained in the interview how they avoided to use terms that perpetuated a victim-narrative, such as "voiceless". In their opinion this narrative makes people subjected to human trafficking seem helpless: "We know that the biggest heroes are themselves", by this quote Lightup are talking about people that find the strength to fight their way out of exploitation. In the interview with Marita Women the participant reflected upon the amount of stigma the term "victim" holds. They said that they themselves would never call somebody a "victim" in a meeting with a client. Firstly, it does not match the way they want to build trust with their clients. Secondly, the women they meet at the Café have a lot of negative associations with it:

I have never met anybody that has told me "I am a victim of human trafficking". They would rather say something like "are you stupid, do you believe that about me?".

None of us wants to identify as a victim.

It is important to note that this quote reflects the opinion that is often shared by the clients of *Marita Women*. They have an idea of what a victim is, and that does not correlate with how they perceive themselves. The participant from *Marita Women* specified that their client's "distaste" for this term is directed towards the people that finds themselves in a similar situation. It is a way for them to distance them from the situation in saying that "somebody else is that stupid, but I am not". Ultimately, the organisations working with human trafficking questions find it important to see a person as somebody that is more than just a "victim". People that are exploited endure a lot of suffering, and still have the strength to fight to get out from these situations. One of the organisations also pointed out that some media outlets might have the tendency to put forward a "victim"-narrative, as it is more captivating for the reader to read stories like that.

The organisations working more with people selling sex voluntarily also problematised using terms like "victim" or "survivor". In its worst sense, it is terms that can take away agency from the person selling sex and contribute to the portrayal of all people selling sex as passive victims. This can potentially be harmful for both people experiencing sexual exploitation, and people selling sex voluntarily, as it can perpetuate inaccurate stereotypes about them. The representatives from *PION* pointed out that this puts forward a narrative that selling sex is something you are "trapped" in. Additionally, it downplays the strength needed to be able to live in such a challenging situation. From the interview with *PION*:

In the passive-victim-discourse, that you are a "junkie" that must sell yourself to earn money to buy drugs, or a victim of human trafficking, there is a lack of looking at how strong they are. I would myself never survive being homeless, so it requires an immense power. It is strong people that find themselves in a form of exploitation, but

by calling them "survivors" or "victims" you eradicate the right for them to be an acting subject, that finds themselves in a terrible life situation.

Although *Pro Sentret* did not have any strong opinions for or against the terms "victim / survivor", they did point out that language can in some cases be used to be passivating. During the interview, they mentioned the previously mentioned documentary from NRK about Norwegian massage parlours as an example of this. The representative from *Pro Sentret* point out that the women are said by the documentary makers to me "moved all around the country", thus giving out an association of them as moveable objects; The more natural way would say that the women are "travelling" all around the country. In another example *Pro Sentret's* representative underlined how using the word "girls", for instance "the girls in prostitution" "the girls on the street", contributes to the passivating discourse; it is a patronising way of addressing grown women. From the interview with *Pro Sentret*:

It is very passivating and disempowering in the public discourse, which we try to avoid. We believe that people selling sex are fundamentally as capable as all other people. For instance, in speaking up for themselves, understanding their own situation, and making active choices. Rather than just being «passive victims» all the time.

The "happy sex worker" functions as the counterpart to the "helpless victim". It was pointed out in the interviews with the organisations working more with people selling sex voluntarily, that the "happy sex worker" was often characterized as a person that sells sex without any apprehensions. The organisations pointed out that this was a stereotype of people selling sex that was not realistic. It is not realistic that somebody is entirely happy in that situation. The representative from *Pro Sentret* pointed out that the idea of a "happy sex worker" is often a white, privileged woman, that sells sex because they "love it". This puts forward an unrealistic picture of some of the implications of selling sex. *PION* also criticised the narrative of the "happy sex worker". They often signify a woman that loves their job, their customers, and money. Their motivation for selling sex for both male and their own pleasure. Both organisations criticise this way of portraying selling sex, as it is a stereotype that does

not exist. It can in some cases be paternalizing, objectifying, and does not paint a realistic picture of how it is to sell sex; the "happy sex worker" is not a strong woman with agency. From the interview with *PION*:

The "happy sex worker" is not presented as a strong woman, an entrepreneur – they are just a person that loves to satisfy men. It is also not a strong woman in that narrative, they are somebody that loves their job, money, and all their clients. Nobody loves their job in real life,

6.4 Including & reaching target groups

This section will briefly go through some of the additional reflections the organisations made on discourse and why it is important. When asked about what impact they believed discourse could have on their target group, some organisations answered that they believed it could contribute positively to their image of themselves. The organisations find it important to carefully select what concepts to use, as they all work with marginalised groups. This was achieved by not using any words that are hurtful or uncomfortable for the clients. Another method was through adapting the language they used depending on their clients and being sensitive towards their clients' experiences. *Marita Women* also found the way we talk about marginalised groups extremely important. They perceive language as a tool to empowering their clients. Especially since most of the women they meet often experience scrutiny from themselves and others. *Marita Women* when asked about what impact they think caring about discourse has:

I believe that we can lift self-respect by talking about them in another way then they have been told before, as well as value. It is very common to meet that wall of their own inner resistance, "what you are telling me is not the truth", "I do not matter, I am just trash". That kind of mental shift is not something that is done overnight.

Ligtup believes that conscious term-use can potentially have a preventative effect on human trafficking. Discussing different terms can be a source of enlightenment and inclusivity.

Including in the sense that marginalised groups might feel like they have a voice and opportunity to participate in the public discourse. From the interview with *Lightup*:

It can be inclusive, because it is so important to include the voice of people that has experience with exploitation. In situations like these, being cautious with what terms we use can give persons the experience that there is room for them as well and that they have their own voice. We also believe that it can contribute to a positive change for policy development.

Both *Pro Sentret* and *PION* believe that using terms cautiously is an important step to secure inclusivity and create a safe space for the people that can potentially be negative affected by public discourse. Words are very powerful, as they can not only include but also exclude. Both organisations aim to mirror what language their clients use about themselves. *Pro Sentret* for instance use the term "sex trade" (*bytte sex*) as it is more commonly used by male sex sellers and buyers. *PION* has a fieldworker from Thailand whose work concern the experiences of people from Thailand selling sex in Norway. This gives them an insight to terminology. As the representative from *Pro Sentret* points out it can be very uncomfortable for someone to join a debate that use a lot of hurtful language about them. They also point out that it is very important to think about what language you use about people selling sex, as this is a group that experiences a lot of stigmatising language, both by public media and the general population. Furthermore, getting people that themselves have experience selling sex to join the public debate is difficult. They also believe that this ultimately can affect policyimpact. *Pro Sentret* about terms influence:

It has an impact on the groups physical and psychological health, and their opportunity to themselves participate in public discourse. It is harder to participate in this debate if you are constantly mentioned in ways that is unbearable and stigmatising. It can be extremely uncomfortable for a person to read about themselves being discussed in this way.

Lastly, caring about discourse and terms for the organisations is important as it is a method to reach their specific target groups. *PION* and *Pro Sentret* said in the interviews that they used language as a way to signal to their target group what kind of services they are offering.

6.5 Summary of findings

The organisations' opinions on discourse consist of several factors. All organisations shy away from using the term "prostitute", as they find it stigmatising and limiting for the people selling sex. However, "prostitution" is still used when talking about the "prostitution field in Norway" or somebody "involved in prostitution". Organisations working with human trafficking and organisations working as interests and knowledge organisations on the prostitution field had contesting opinions on the term sex work, which ultimately is linked up to their target group and their mandates. Organisations working more with victims of human trafficking did not use this term at all, but the organisations working more with people selling sex voluntarily did more often use it. Some of the organisations criticised media outlets into two binary categories that either was "helpless victim" or "happy sex worker". Both categories take away a lot of agency from the actual people and are both negative stereotypes. Lastly, the organisations use discourse and are mindful of what terms they use to ensure inclusivity.

7 Discussion

This chapter will discuss the empirical findings in relation to the literature review and conceptual framework as a basis for the arguments raised in this section. The discussion starts with addressing what kind of impact the radical vs. liberal approach to prostitution has had on the public debates. Then the discussion addresses why the organisations interviewed have moved beyond using the term "prostitute", and why the term "prostitution" is still used. Then follows a discussion of the influence discourse and organisations have on each other. Finally, I will address the binary gender-categories and their impact on the discourse.

7.1 Echoes from the feminist "sex wars"

An article from Baker (2015) illustrates how prostitution debates started in a "sex war"-paradigm, that stills influences the way we think and talk about prostitution. Understanding the historical, feminist debates is therefore important when discussing rhetoric and terminology within the prostitution field. It can be closely linked up to policy-development on the field, as illustrated by the influence of radical feminism (Olsson, 2019; Pollis, 1995; Skilbrei & Holmström, 2011). Additionally, it can also serve as an explanation as to why it is a delicate topic to discuss. Most of the debates identified in the literature review were concerned with the division of an abolinistic or a sex-positive approach; A radical or a liberal approach (Beran, 2012; Sullivan, 2003; Vicente, 2016). Internationally, it is discussed whether it would be beneficial for other countries to follow a Nordic model, thus applying a more radical method of diminishing demand and combatting exploitation (Jakobsson & Kotsadam, 2013; Nordic Model Now, n.d; Olsson, 2019).

One of the reasons that I chose to include the historical aspect of prostitution, is that discourse has to be understood as something that gets shaped by their own sociohistorical context (Carbó, et al., 2016). To understand contemporary debates on prostitution, we have to understand the historical backdrop, and in this case it is the two dominant approaches stemming from radical and liberal feminism. A lot of contemporary research done internationally can be framed into one of the two. The matter gets further complicated when looking at the issue of human trafficking. According to some of the articles identified in the literature review about the prostitution field, it is sometimes challenging to separate questions about prostitution and human trafficking from each other (Spanger, 2011; Sullivan, 2003;

Weitzer, 2005). As previously mentioned, this is something that the organisations I interviewed want to move away from. What benefits could making a more clear distinction between these two issues make? One of the advantages could be that one would be able to explore this topic and get more nuanced discussions (St. Denny, 2014). Wishing this to be a more nuanced debate was identified at different points in the findings-chapter. For instance, when looking at the way discourse has been passivating for the people involved, under 6.3. It can additionally be at times challenging to discuss the prostitution field, as it can often turn into a debate regarding morals. Is it morally good to facilitate for more exploitation? Is it morally good to deny somebody labour rights?

I am certain that none of the organisations I interviewed would answer yes to any of these questions, regardless of their mandate on the field. When interviewing organisations working with people selling sex, I received a unique opportunity to hear their opinions on the matter. It can seem tempting to categorise them into a binary understanding of the prostitution field. However, this temptation is more problematic than one might assume. Beran (2012) & Sullivan (2003) propose a new method of understanding the prostitution field and emphasize that it is important to have a deep understanding of both sides. Moreover, the article by Phipps (2017) point to how both positions can be related to privilege by the activist from both sides, and it is necessary to move beyond this categorisation. As we will see throughout the discussion, this is something that is dependent on their own experience as an organisation working with different target groups. I propose, based on my empirical findings, to look at the organisations as different entities each having their own mandate to fulfil on the Norwegian prostitution field. All organisations share the common goal of working against exploitation and for a more secure future for people selling sex. However, they have separate roles and obligations they work towards.

7.2 From "prostitute" towards...?

"Is there a correct way to address people in prostitution?", is a question that it is easy to ask yourself if you are not working in the prostitution field. It is something I, and the peers I have talked about this study with, have asked ourselves. Finding universal appropriate language is a complicated task, especially since the different organisations can be hard to compare. However, all the organisations agreed on what terms they wanted to move away from. They all reported some degree of aversion to the term "prostitute". It was a shared attitude from the

prominent actors on the prostitution field that they had moved away from this type of language. The two main reasons that were identified for wanting to stop using this word was a) wanting to separate the person from the action, and b) the stigma that is associated with this word.

Kabeer (2005) identified agency, resources, and achievements as three important dimensions within empowerment theory. A person's agency is closely linked up to self-perception, which can be enhanced by using resources. These resources can be at times accessed through CSOs. In this case, separating a person from the action can be looked at as a method for human trafficking CSOs to provide resources for the people involved and strengthen their sense of agency. Refraining from passivating discourse, conveys to the person that their experiences does not define them. Kock & Nadjar (2015) identified how a lot of contemporary debates on prostitution has been focused on sex trafficking and what can be understood as an underlying victim narrative. Based on the interviews, I would argue that despite newspapers still using the term "prostitute" that might hold a lot of associations of somebody that is helpless and in despair, the organisations working directly with people getting exploited does not use that word; Not calling them a "prostitute" can be perceived as a source of empowerment. This is a decision made from the organisations based on a deep understanding of the people they work with and their own perception of themselves and the term. It is also an attempt to not define them as only "victims". Empowerment theory has, among other things, been criticised for pushing a top-down perspective, and putting forward a sort of "victim-narrative" (Batliwala, 2007; Cornwall & Rivas, 2015). I argue that the organisations themselves wish to move beyond this narrative and wish to meet their clients on common ground. This was illustrated in the findings-section the numerous times the organisations stated that they would never refer to somebody as a "victim" in a meeting-setting or define somebody as a "prostitute". I propose that the organisations are aiming to empower people that has experienced human trafficking, by not using stigmatising terms (Cojocaru, 2016; Jorge-Birol, 2011).

The organisations have more knowledge of all the stigma associated with this term, which was further explored when looking more closely at the answers from the organisations working with people voluntarily in prostitution. They pointed to how it is a term associated with force and victimhood. It is a term that has a lot of synonyms equivalent to "degrading

themselves", and so on. This type of rhetoric can be reminiscent of the rhetoric identified in the article from Liggins (2003) & Jaggar (1997), which described the negative way women in prostitution has been described. Either as "fallen women" needing guidance to get into a more morally right path, or "contagion of evil", still needing guidance. This type of social stigma illustrates how people selling sex has been judged by the terms used to describe them. Jolin (1994) argued that debates on prostitution have been harmful for the person selling sex, and they have not been given any agency. Looking at it from this perspective, not calling them a "prostitute" can be looked at as an attempt from the organisations to move beyond this type of narrative. The new proposed narrative from the organisations is that people selling sex can make their own decisions, and that they are not to be defined by outdated understandings of the term "prostitute". This can also be understood as an example of how different discursive frames influence how somebody understands a phenomenon, which is an aspect that will be further explored in a later part of the text (Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen, 2018).

A central part of empowerment is agency, the ability to make powerful choices one's own behalf (Kabeer, 2005). Looking at the term "prostitute" from this perspective might imply that the organisations do not use it as it is a term that has a lot of predetermined assumptions. It is not associated with the image of a strong person that despite having been sexually exploited is able to seek help. It also brings forward the assumption that all the people selling sex are forced into it by third parties, thus diminishing the voices of people selling sex as a way of generating income. By referring to someone as "involved in prostitution", the organisations signal clearly that this is something that does not define them. Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen (2018) talk about how discourse can shape action, and empowerment theory has been used in prostitution to address what kind of resources people selling sex themselves define (Wanjiru, et al., 2022). Looking at the empirical findings, not using the word "prostitute" can be understood as a way of listening to the way people selling sex wants to be defined and give them the power to determine how they are perceived. This is for instance illustrated in the quote from *PION* when they state that they use the term "sex worker", as it is a term that gives more agency to the people involved. Defining self-perception is something that is explored in the article by Jacobsen & Skilbrei (2010), where the Russian women selling sex call themselves "proud Russians". This stemmed from a wish from the "proud Russians" to have other identification factors than just selling sex. This can reminisce the argument made from Marita Women about how people are defined in different ways. A

mother is not only a mother; A person selling sex is not only a "prostitute". This argument might be helpful to look at, when trying to understand why the term "prostitution" is still used. "Prostitution" is something that a person can be involved in, and it leaves room for more nuances. It also does not hold the same expectations concerning gender, which I will further elaborate on in another paragraph.

Which term should one use, if not "prostitute"? The answer to that is a bit complicated and requires us to look more closely at the relationship between discourse and the mandates of the organisations.

7.3 Discourse shapes organisations; Organisations shapes discourse

This part of the discussion will look more closely at the relationship between the organisations and discourse. One way of understanding why the organisations use the type of terminology they use is to interpret it as a way to signal what kind of services they offer, as well as their mandate. Based on my empirical findings I propose that language is in a way used by the organisation to position themselves within the prostitution field. Looking back at discourse theory, it is an example of how the way people talk reflect their own personal beliefs regarding an issue (Gill, 2000; Jørgensen & Phillips, 2013). Caring about terminology is also a method for the organisations to care about their clients. This was an aspect of discourse that was further explored in the statement from *Pro Sentret*, where the participant discussed how it might be uncomfortable for people to join a public discourse where they are constantly portrayed in a negative way. Understanding language as something that is constructed (Gill, 2000; Jørgensen & Phillips, 2013), using inclusive language might make the services offered by the organisation seem more inviting and welcoming. Human action gets influenced by discourse (Carbó, et al., 2016), which means that the organisations attempt to use inclusive language as something that might have a positive effect on the people selling sex. The literature review explored how people in prostitution have experienced scrutinization and have been subjected to different forms of verbal abuse throughout history (Jaggar 1997; Jolin, 1994; Liggins, 2003). The organisations I interviewed for my master thesis take great care and consideration into what kind of language they use.

None of the organisations had any objections against people using terms about themselves that they as an organisation did not use. For instance, a human trafficking organisation would not object to one of their clients calling themselves a "sex worker", but they would not themselves use that type of terminology. This can be explained by again looking at how discourse gets influenced by personal beliefs regarding an issue (Gill, 2000; Jørgensen & Phillips, 2013), as we investigate how language and meaning of the discourse is constructed depending on their social position (Carbó et al., 2016). The next paragraphs will go through how the organisations position themselves within the prostitution field.

Using the example of a human trafficking organisation again, their experiences get shaped by the fact that their clients are people that have experienced exploitation. This is the reason that *ROSA* describe the people they meet as "exploited to prostitution". Their centre of expertise is mostly concerned with people experiencing exploitation, and the language they use is therefore a reflection of that reality. *Marita Women* offers services directed to women, and thereof use the phrasing "women with prostitution experience". Emphasizing that it is an experience that they have. It is another example of how language gets shaped by the organisations mandate in the field. This does not mean that any of the two organisations never meet people that are in prostitution voluntarily, but their mandate is connected to human trafficking. Moreover, *Lightup*, stated in the interview that they used the phrase "person in prostitution" because they did not to put any label on people. *Discourse* also determines what can and cannot be said (Bhattarai, 2020), which in this case is illustrated by the human trafficking organisations positionality in the discourse.

Looking at the reflections made from *PION* and *Pro Sentret* on "sex work", it becomes even more clear how organisations are shaped by their surroundings. They have, for the most part, experiences with people finding themselves voluntarily in prostitution. For their case it would be inaccurate to use a formulation like "exploited to prostitution". In some cases, they might meet somebody that has been subjected to exploitation, but that is not something they themselves specialize in. "Sex work" was problematised as a term by the representative from *Pro Sentret* in the interview. They were reluctant to use it in official documents, and in a lot of the information that was published about their organisation. They described "sex work" as a term that could entail multiple meanings and did not want to put forward a false narrative of

what kind of services they offered. This raises an interesting point about the way that language and terms in some contexts gets taken for granted, and that they are shaped by different contexts and actors (Carbó, et al., 2016; Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen, 2018). From these answers I propose that language can be understood as an action that changes depending on situational factors. It also proves why it is important to be conscious about what language you use, especially if you wish to use it to include others. It is also interesting to see how two organisations that at first glance can have a lot of similarities still have different experiences of a term.

PION uses the term "sex work" because they want to mirror what kind of language their target group use. This term can be looked at as a mode of self-empowerment from the people selling sex. The people that wish to get more labour rights chose to emphasize that they are working. This is again an example of how discourse influence actions and practices (Gill, 2000), and how empowerment is linked to the ability to make choices (Kabeer, 2005). One could also approach the usage of "sex work" as an attempt to find the equivalent of a working "title" for people selling sex, and in that sense, legitimising selling sex as a form of labour. The term "sex work" can also be perceived as something closely linked to liberal feminist approaches to feminism (Scoular & FitzGerald, 2021; Vicente, 2016). This goes to show how feminist debates contribute towards shaping discourse and language. This term has also been adopted by large, international human rights CSOs like Amnesty and by the UN (WHO), as described in the interview with PION. Is "sex work" the natural succeeder for "prostitute"? Looking at the discussion where the organisations mandates were distinguished from each other, one can understand why this could be problematic. It is not an issue that anybody identify as a "sex worker", or even organisations that align more with liberal feminism using it. It is problematic because selling sex is not always "sex work", but in some cases "sexual exploitation". Nevertheless, I argue that all the organisations seek to move beyond social stigma of people in the industry, as has been identified as a goal in recent feminist studies (Hallgrimsdottir, Phillips & Benoit, 2006; Desyllas, 2013). However, they have their own separate mandate on the field to fulfil, which makes their experience and understanding of contemporary discourse different.

7.4 Gender dimension

This part will go through some of the gendered aspects of this study. I will look more closely into the "sex wars", where the radical approach towards prostitution started as an assumption that buying sex was an act of violence done by men against women (Bjørndahl, 2010). In Norway, the literature describes how the Norwegian prostitution field has shifted from consisting of mostly Norwegian, female, drug addicts, to being more dominated by female migrants (Norli, 2006; Norli, 2009). Prostitution has throughout history, and to some extent in modern times, had a strong connection to binary gender categories. The person selling sex has often been portrayed as female, and the buyer has been male (Liggins, 2003; Skilbrei & Holmström, 2011; Pollis, 1995; Vicente, 2016). What impact do these gendered expectations have on the actors in the prostitution field?

Looking back at how empowerment theory has been used when talking about prostitution, it is proposed to implement an intersectional lens (Mosedale, 2005). This is further investigated when looking at how gender-categories can in its worst sense exclude the voices of transgender and male sex sellers. When somebody is excluded from public discourse, it is more challenging for them to make sure that their needs are met. It also puts forward an image of prostitution that does not match reality. The gendered categories were explored by some of the organisations when talking about the term "prostitute". Both *PION* and *Pro Sentret* said that this term communicated the association to a woman selling sex. *Pro Sentret* pointed additionally out that she often was a "privileged woman from Norway". This is an example of how discourse can be reductive for the people involved. By using more gender-neutral terms, like "sex work", "sex trade", "sex-seller", or "people in prostitution", the organisations work towards a more inclusive discourse. By including this type of discursive frame, it can have an impact on how we talk, think, and interpret prostitution (Johannessen, Rafoss & Rasmussen, 2018). Moreover, it illustrates how the organisations change and adapt their language by looking at how the prostitution field itself are changing as they gain more knowledge about it.

This paragraph highlights the potential pitfalls that comes from public discourse's binary categorisation of people in prostitution as either "helpless victims" or "happy sex workers". Looking at this through an intersectional lens, I argue that this categorisation perpetuates stereotypes of ethnicity and gender. As the representative from *Pro Sentret* put it, the "happy

sex worker" was often assumed to be a privileged Norwegian woman. This is a dimension that is also explored by Phipps (2017) article addressing the relationship between privilege and the prostitution field. First and foremost, the "happy sex worker" category proposes the same gender categories as "prostitute". Furthermore, it is a category that is rooted in a privileged position. This category does not include experiences from migrant women selling sex, thus forcing them into the "helpless victim" category, which is backed up by the article from Kock & Nadjar (2015) about "faceless victims". I argue that public discourses in Norway contribute to a continuous victimization of migrant women in Norway. This also excludes the voices of men and transgender people being subjected to sexual exploitation.

Marita Women brought up how challenging it can be for somebody to realise and admit that they are the victim of human trafficking, as this is a word that holds a lot of negative stigmas for them. This combination opens for the possibility that it is even more challenging for transgender people and men to recognise that they are exploited. This is a dimension that has been explored by scholars looking at how gender discourse in prostitution might shape the self-perception of people selling sex (Jordal, Öhman, & Wijewardene, 2020). Furthermore, not having a full understanding of what is happening to them might make it harder for them to seek and receive help. I argue that these categories bring forward inaccurate stereotypes of the reality of selling sex. This has a negative impact on both people selling sex, and the organisations working with them. Public discourse should move beyond these categorisations to create more constructive debates on the topic. I would like to underline that I am not proposing that public media should never address stories of exploitation or content in prostitution. It is however problematic when a complex issue gets reduced into categories that fail to incorporate the nuances.

7.5 Limitations and strengths of the study

This part will go through some additional limitations that were identified apart from the methodological limitations highlighted in chapter 4, section 4.10. I must acknowledge that conducting the interviews in Norwegian and having to translate them proved to be a challenging task and might have contributed to some of the nuances getting lost. It is challenging to express oneself in another language that is not your mother tongue, and some phrases had no obvious translations. I have therefore included the original Norwegian quotes

in an appendix. I also believe that the results of this study could be strengthened if I had the opportunity to interview a larger number of organisations. I believe that one of my mistakes were to initially include questions regarding the Sex Purchase Act, which might have made some of the organisations reluctant to participate. This is because the Sex Purchase Act has historically been a heated topic within the Norwegian prostitution field, and some organisations do not wish to disclose where they stand on it publicly.

I would however argue that the inclusion of organisation having different mandates on the field makes this closer to a true mapping of the discourse within the prostitution field. I also did member checking with the organisation on the findings-chapter, which strengthened the reliability of my study.

8 Conclusion

This master study was framed by the contemporary discussion regarding "woke-culture". In the discussions I have had about "wokeness", I have often found myself defending it. I do agree that it could potentially be dramatic to limit the degree of freedom of speech, but I have often found myself wondering whether this is the goal for people claiming to be "woke". People criticise "woke-culture" for policing language and being something that only "overly sensitive" people care about. This study has explored why it is important to care about language. Furthermore, I wish that this study will illustrate how it can be beneficial to move beyond the basic understanding of being "woke" as restrictive. I argue that caring about the way we talk about marginalised groups is important, as it has an influence on the selfperception and ultimately the self-esteem of said groups. Toxic discourse makes it more challenging for representatives of marginalised groups to participate in the public discourse. Caring about how you express yourself can have a potentially positive impact on the marginalised groups in the discourse. It is not a tool for limiting how people express themselves, but rather make people think through the way they express themselves. In its most positive sense, "wokeness" is about inclusivity and being attentive to other people's experiences. Public language has been used to stigmatise and to a certain extent control people in prostitution. From "fallen women" to "helpless victims", from "immoral and sinful" to "privileged women" that loves their job. The discourse might change, but it still reduces the experiences of the people that find themselves within prostitution. I argue that it is important to care about language and discourse, because discourses change all the time depending on different experiences and origins. The organisations interviewed for this master thesis had different mandates and obligations to fulfil, but they all agreed that some of the terminology that has previously been used about people in prostitution is in its worst sense stigmatising.

The findings of this thesis are relevant for global development, since the terminology used within the development field is also experiencing an ongoing change. Some scholars have for instance stopped defining countries as "underdeveloped" or to refer to poor countries as "the third world", and prefer the term "majority world" (Jakobsen, 2012). This shows that it is important to care about discourse and terminology, especially within the field of development, as it often concerns marginalised groups. One impact Norwegian CSOs can have on the discourse about prostitution is that public services can for instance opt to use terms that are more sensitive towards the multifaceted experiences of people selling sex. It can also

potentially affect the way public media writes and talks about the Norwegian prostitution field. Additionally, it can have an influence on polices proposed by larger CSOs as was illustrated with the signing of the Palermo-protocol and increased focus on human trafficking. This study also attempts to show how discourse analysis can be used as a conceptual framework in development studies addressing discourses and terminology on vulnerable groups. As researchers of global development, it is important that we continuously examine and address different sides of discourses.

The study also investigates how language can be used as a method of empowering marginalised groups. Empowerment is something that a third party can facilitate for, but empowerment itself must come from within. Using terminology that is preferred by marginalised groups can be looked at as a helpful tool for people in prostitution. This is something that is emphasized by the organisations as important for them. As an example, most of the organisations featured in this thesis have started to use more gender-neutral terminology, and moved beyond terms that can be perceived as offensive. This can potentially encourage people in prostitution to participate in the public debate. Furthermore, people in prostitution have traditionally been put into the categories of either a "helpless victim" or "happy sex worker", which have reduced the experiences of people in prostitution. This is also something I identified as a central theme for using language that is not a continuation of a victim-narrative. They themselves do not feel as victims, and do not want to be continued to be perceived as such. Being called a victim takes away their own voice and might make them seem "helpless". This study indicates that discourse and terminology is a method for the organisations to include and empower their clients.

This study attempts to contribute to our understanding of contemporary discourses within the Norwegian prostitution field. Although this study is limited in scope, it has mapped out some central themes. It has highlighted how challenging it might be to find a universal discourse, as the prostitution field consist of a complex set of experiences. The organisations that participated in this study use discourse that is formed by the social reality they find themselves in. It illustrates how discourse shape reality and reality shapes discourse. All organisations agree on the shared goals of combatting exploitation and caring for their clients. However, it is important to separate the organisations from each other, thereby the type of

terminology they use, which ultimately explains why some organisations refrain from using some terms. This means making a greater distinction between people finding themselves voluntarily and involuntarily in prostitution, that moved beyond the gender-binary, reductive categories of "helpless victim" or "happy sex worker". "Sex work" and "sexual exploitation" should be understood as different phenomenon, with different discourses. This study argues that language and terminology can hold diverse meanings in contrasting arenas. Looking back at the term "prostitute", it is an example of how organisations working directly with people in prostitution have a deeper understanding of this term. In a similar manner, organisations working with human trafficking have a different understanding of the term "sex work", than the organisations working as either interest organisations or knowledge centres on prostitution.

8.1 Recommendations for further research

Conducting the research presented in this thesis led to more questions about terminology in the Norwegian prostitution field. It could for instance be interesting to conduct similar studies with a larger and more diverse group of participants. Another approach could be to conduct a comparative study between countries with different policies on prostitution. One could for instance compare countries where prostitution is illegal, semi-illegal and legal, to investigate whether and how policies impact the prostitution discourse. Furthermore, it would be interesting to explore discussions between people selling sex, in for instance a focus-group setting. This would open for the possibility to investigate how the participants themselves experience discourses and debates about the field, what type of terminology they use themselves and how they wish to be addressed or referred to. Moreover, this type of study could explore what kind of needs and support people in prostitution need from CSOs / public institutions in Norway. Finally, I recommend that future research investigate gender-dimensions that is still present in the field. This was briefly discussed in this study, and it could be useful to look more closely into the needs from participants that falls outside the binary gender-categories.

9 Bibliography

- Abu-Lughod, L. (2009). Dialects of Women's Empowerment: The International Circuitry of the Arab Human Development Report 2005. *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, 41(1), 83–103. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0020743808090132
- Andreassen, R. M. & Holm-Glad, H. (2022). Stopp Menneskehandel. FOKUS Forum for Kvinner og Utviklingsspørsmål. https://issuu.com/fokus_kvinner/docs/analyse_menneskehandel_2022
- Attride-Stirling, J. (2001). Thematic Networks: an Analytic tool for Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Research*, 1(3), 385-405. DOI: 10.1177/146879410100100307
- Baker, C. N. (2015). An Examination of Some Central Debates onSex Trafficking in Research and Public Policy in the United States. *Journal of Human Trafficking*, 1, 191-208. DOI: 10.1080/23322705.2015.1023672
- Bandehy, L. (2023). *Ungdommer Bruker Woke-Kultur for å kvele kritikk av Islam*. Nettavisen. From: https://www.nettavisen.no/norsk-debatt/ungdommer-bruker-woke-kultur-for-a-kvele-kritikk-av-islam/o/5-95-953169
- Batliwala, S. (2007). Taking the Power out of Empowerment: An Experiential Account. *Development in Practice*, 17(4/5), 557–565. http://www.jstor.org/stable/25548253
- Barua, P., Haukanes, H. (2020). Organizing for Empowerment: Exploring the Impact of Unionization on Domestic Workers in India. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 55, 27–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12116-019-09291-4
- Beran, K. (2012). Revisiting the Prostitution Debate: Uniting Liberal and Radical Feminism in Pursuit of Policy Reform. *Law and Inequality: Journal of Theory and Practice*, 30(1), 19-56. https://scholarship.law.umn.edu/lawineq/vol30/iss1/2
- Bhattarai, P. (2020). Discourse, Power and Truth: Foucauldian Perspective. *International Journal of English Literature and Social Sciences*, 5(5), 1427-1430. DOI: 10.22161/ijels.55.13
- Birt L, Scott S, Cavers D, Campbell C, Walter F. (2016). Member Checking: A Tool to Enhance Trustworthiness or Merely a Nod to Validation? *Qual Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811. DOI: 10.1177/1049732316654870. Epub 2016 Jul 10. PMID: 27340178.
- Bjørndahl, U. (2010). Et Usynlig Marked? En Feltbeskrivelse om Gutter, Menn og Transpersoner som Selger Sex. Pro Sentret. file:///C:/Users/rebek/Downloads/ferdig%20rapport.pd
- Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. DOI: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brinkmann, S. & Kvale, S. (2015). Introduction to Interview Research. InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing. (3rd ed., 3-24). Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

- Brunovskis, A. & Skilbrei, M-L. (2018). Individual or Structural Inequality? Access and Barriers in Welfare Services for Women Who Sell Sex. *Social Inclusion*, 6(3),310-318. DOI: 10.17645/si.v6i3.1534
- Butler, C. N. (2015). A Critical Race Feminist Perspective on Prostitution & Sex Trafficking in America. *Yale Journal of Law and Feminism*, 27(1),95. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.13051/7069
- Cammaerts, B. (2022). The Abnormalisation of Social Justice: The 'Anti-Woke Culture War' Discourse in the UK. *Discourse & Society*, 33(6), 730–743. https://doi.org/10.1177/09579265221095407
- Carbó, P. A., Andrea Vázquez Ahumada, M., Caballero, A. D., & Lezama Argüelles, G. A. (2016). "How do I do Discourse Analysis?" Teaching Discourse Analysis to Novice Researchers Through a Study of Intimate Partner Gender Violence Among Migrant Women. *Qualitative Social Work*, 15(3), 363–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325015617233
- Carter, Angela. (n.d.) 'Language is power, life and the instrument of culture, the instrument of domination and liberation', Retrieved may 3rd, 2023: https://www.goodreads.com/author/quotes/27500.Angela_Carter,
- Cojocaru, C. (2016). My Experience is Mine to Tell: Challenging the abolitionist victimhood framework. *Anti-Trafficking Review*, (7), 12–38. https://doi.org/10.14197/atr.20121772
- Cooperman, J. (2023). Why Woke Language Backfires. *The Common Reader*. From: https://commonreader.wustl.edu/why-woke-language-backfires/
- Cornwall, A., & Rivas, A.-M. (2015). From 'Gender Equality and 'Women's Empowerment' to Global Justice: Reclaiming a Transformative Agenda for Gender and Development. *Third World Quarterly*, 36(2), 396–415. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2015.1013341
- Creswell, R., Poth, C. N. & Cheryl, N. (2018). Five Qualitative Approaches to Inquiry. In R. Creswell (Ed.), *Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). (65-11). Sage.
- Creswell, R. & Poth, C. N. (2018). Philosophical Assumptions and Interpretive Frameworks. In R. Creswell (Ed.), *Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). (15-40). Sage.
- Danna, D. (2012). Client-Only Criminalization in the City of Stockholm: A Local Research on the Application of the "Swedish Model" of Prostitution Policy. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 9, 80-93. Doi: 10.1007/s13178-011-0072-z
- Desyllas, M. C. (2013). Representations of Sex Workers' Needs and Aspirations: A case for Arts-Based Research. *Sexualities*, 16(7), 772–787. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460713497214

- General Assembly (2001). United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime. (A/RES/55/25). United Nations. https://www.unodc.org/pdf/crime/a_res_55/res5525e.pdf
- Gill, R. (2000). *Discourse Analysis*. SAGE Publications Ltd. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/30529296
- Green, J., & Thorogood, N. (2014). Qualitative Methods for Health Research (3rd ed. ed.). Los Angeles, Calif: Sage Publications
- Hallgrimsdottir, H., Phillips, R. & Benoit, C. (2006). Fallen Women and Rescued Girls: Social Stigma and Media Narratives of the Sex Industry in Victoria, B.C., from 1980 to 2005*. *Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue canadienne de sociologie*, 43, 265 280. DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-618X.2006.tb02224.x.
- Hollekim, R. & Anderssen, N. & Daniel, M. (2015). Contemporary Discourses on Children and Parenting in Norway Norwegian Child Welfare Services Meets Immigrant Families. *Children and Youth Services Review*. 60, 52-60. DOI: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.11.004.
- Jacobsen, C. M. & Skilbrei, M. (2010). 'Reproachable Victims'? Representations and Self-Representations of Russian Women Involved in Transnational Prostitution, *Ethnos*, 75(2), 190-212. DOI: 10.1080/00141841003764013
- Jaggar, A. M. (1997). Contemporary Western Feminist Perspectives on Prostitution, *Asian Journal of Women's Studies*, 3(2), 8-29. DOI: 10.1080/12259276.1997.11665794
- Jakobsen, H. (2012). Focus Groups and Methodological Rigour outside the Minority World: Making the Method Work to Its Strengths in Tanzania. *Qualitative Research*, 12(2), 111-130. DOI: 10.1177/1468794111416145.
- Jakobsson, N. & Kotsadam, A. (2013). The Law and Economics of International Sex Slavery: Prostitution Laws and Trafficking for Sexual Exploitation. *European Journal of Law and Economics*, 35, 87-107. DOI: 10.1007/s10657-011-9232-0'
- Johannessen, L. E. F., Rafoss, T. W. & Rasmussen, E. B. (2018). *Hvordan bruke Teori? Nyttig verktøy i kvalitativ analyse*. Universitetsforlaget.
- Jolin, A. (1994). On the Backs of Working Prostitutes: Feminist Theory and Prostitution Policy. *Crime & Delinquency*, 40(69). DOI: 10.1177/0011128794040001005
- Jordal, M., Öhman, A. & Wijewardene. (2020). Respectability and Rights. Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights of Sri Lankan Women Formerly Involved in Prostitution. *Contemporary South Asia*, 28(1), 28-42, DOI: 10.1080/09584935.2019.16
- Jorge-Birol, A. P. (2008). Empowering Victims of Human Trafficking: The Role of Support, Assistance and Protection Policies. *HUMSEC Journal*, 2, 163-78. https://documentation.lastradainternational.org/lsidocs/jorge_birol_empowering_victims_of_human_trafficking.pdf
- Jørgensen, M. W. & Phillips, L. (2013). *Diskursanalyse som Teori og Metode* (10th ed, 34-72). Roskilde Universitetsforlag.

- Kabeer, N. (2005). Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment: A Critical Analysis of the Third Millennium Development Goal. *Gender and Development*, 13(1), 13–24. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20053132
- Khanza, Cikitta & Yuvia, Olga & Rezki, Imam. (2015). Prostitution and Women Empowerment's Role. *Journal of Business on Hospitality and Tourism*, 1-9. DOI: 10.22334/jbhost.v1i1.25.
- Kock, I. E. (2020). *Prostitusjonens Nye Randsoner Sugardating og Webcamsex*. Pro Sentret. From: https://www.prosentret.no/getfile.php/131535-1680009198/Dokumenter/Publikasjoner/2020/Prostitusjonens-nye-randsoner-sugardating-og-webcam-2020.pdf
- Kock, I. E. & Nadjard, A. E. (2015). Menneskelivet Bak Prostitusjonen. *Norsk Legeforening*, 17. Retrieved from: https://tidsskriftet.no/2015/09/kronikk/menneskelivet-bak-prostitusjonen
- Korsvik, T. R. (2016). Prostitution Research in Norway: Neo-liberal Discourses? *Nora Nordic Journal of Feminist and Gender Research*, 24(1), 56-62. DOI: 10.1080/08038740.2015.1136685
- Krisesentersekretariatet (n.d.). *About us.* Retrieved January 11th, 2023. From: https://www.krisesenter.com/english/
- Liberato, A. S. Q., & Ratajczak, K. (2017). The Feminist Debate on Prostitution and Trafficking: Reflections for a Unified and Theory-driven Approach. *International Review of Modern Sociology*, 43(1), 119–135. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44510057
- Liggins, E. (2003). Prostitution and Social Purity in the 1880s and 1890s. *Critical Survey*, 15(3), 39-55. DOI: 10.3167/001115703782153510.
- Lightup (n.d.). *Om Lightup*. Retrieved January 9th, 2023. From: https://lightup-movement.no/om-lightup
- Loga, J. (2018). Civil Society and the Welfare State in Norway Historical Relations and Future Roles. *Community Development Journal*, 53, 574-591. DOI: 10.1093/cdj/bsy027.
- Malterud, K. (2001). Qualitative Research: Standards, Challenges, and Guidelines. *The Lancet*, 358(9280), 483-488. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6
- Maritastiftelsen (n.d.a). *Hva er Marita Women?* Retrieved January 12th, 2023. From: https://marita.no/marita-women/mer-om-marita-women/
- Maritastiftelsen (n.d.b). *Om Oss.* Retrieved January 12th, 2023. From: https://marita.no/om-oss/
- Mosedale, S. (2005). Assessing Women's Empowerment: Towards a Conceptual Framework. *Journal of International Development.*, *17*(2), 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1212
- Neuman, W. L. (2014). *Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches* (7th ed.), Pearson

- Nordic Model Now, (n.d.). *What is the Nordic Model?* Retrieved April 20th, 2023. From: https://nordicmodelnow.org/what-is-the-nordic-model/
- Norli, B. (2009). En Kartlegging av Norske Kvinner i Prostitusjon. *Pro Sentret*. file:///C:/Users/rebek/Downloads/Norske%202009%20(3).pdf
- Norli, B. (2006). Utenlandsk Prostitusjon i Oslo Pro Sentrets Kunnskap og Erfaringer. *Pro Sentret*. https://www.prosentret.no/getfile.php/131571-1680009144/Dokumenter/Publikasjoner/2015%20og%20tidligere/utenlandsk%20prost itusjon%20i%20oslo%2C%202005.pdf
- NRK (April 11th, 2023). *NRK Brøt God Presseskikk i Brennpunkt-dokumentar*. From: https://www.nrk.no/norge/nrk-brot-god-presseskikk-i-brennpunkt-dokumentar-1.16362612
- Olsson, J. A. (2019). Prostitution Policy in Sweden Targeting Demand. *The Swedish Institute*. https://sharingsweden.se/app/uploads/2019/02/si_prostitution-in-sweden_a5_final_digi_.pdf
- Pang, X. (2023). Vil Være Politisk Ukorrekt. *VG*. From: https://www.vg.no/nyheter/innenriks/i/l34g3M/sunniva-18-og-nahn-22-er-anti-woke-vil-vaere-politisk-ukorrekt
- Phipps, A. (2017). Sex Wars Revisited: A Rhetorical Economy of Sex Industry Opposition. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 18(4), 306-320. From: http://vc.bridgew.edu/jiws/vol18/iss4/22
- PION (n.d.). *Om PION*. Retrieved January 11th 2023, From: http://www.pion-norge.no/om-pion
- Pollis, C. A. (1995). A Radical Feminist Approach to Confronting the Global Sexual Exploitation of Women (Review of The Prostitution of Sexuality, by K. Barry). *The Journal of Sex Research*, 32(2), 172-174. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3812970
- Pro Sentret (2021). *Another year of COVID-19*. Pro Sentret / Velferdsetaten. From: file:///C:/Users/rebek/Downloads/Another-year-of-COVID-19-Ida-Kock-2021-1.pdf
- Pro Sentret (n.d.a). *Om Pro Sentret*. Retrieved March 03rd, 2023. From: https://prosentret.no/en/om-pro-sentret/om-oss/pro-sentret-er/
- Pro Sentret (n.d.b). *Utlendingers Rettigheter*. Retrieved May 3rd, 2023. From: https://www.prosentret.no/lover-og-regler-i-norge/utlendingers-rettigheter/#:~:text=Det%20er%20ikke%20ulovlig%20%C3%A5,f%C3%B8r%20den %20utl%C3%B8per%20hos%20politiet.
- Punch, K. F. (2014). Introduction to Social Research: Quantitative & Qualitative Approaches (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Rasmussen, I., Strøm, S., Sverdrup, S. & Hansen, V. W. (2014). Evaluering av Forbudet Mot Kjøp av Seksuelle Tjenester (2014/30). *Vista Analyse AS*. https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/0823f01fb3d646328f20465a2afa9477/evaluering_s exkjoepsloven_2014.pdf

- Renland, A., Kock, I. & Bjørndahl, U. (2020). *Oversett og Etterlat*. Pro Sentret. From: file:///C:/Users/rebek/Downloads/Oversett-og-etterlatt.-Om-covid-19-pandemien-og-smittevernberedskap-for-personer-som-selger-sex-2020%20(1).pdf
- Robinson, C. C. (2007). Feminist Theory and Prostitution. In C. C. Robinson, *From The Classroom to the Corner: Female Dropouts' Reflections on Their School Years*. (21-36). Peter Lang AG.
- ROSA (n.d.). *Om ROSA*. Retrieved January 11th, 2023. From: http://rosa-help.no/om-rosa/
- Saglie, J. & Sivesind, K. H. (2018) Civil Society Institutions or Semipublic Agencies? State Regulation of Parties and Voluntary Organizations in Norway, *Journal of Civil Society*, 14(4), 292-310, DOI: 10.1080/17448689.2018.1518769
- Scoular, J., & FitzGerald, S. (2021). Why Decriminalise Prostitution? Because Law and Justice Aren't Always the Same. International Journal for Crime, *Justice and Social Democracy*, 10(4), 52–65. https://doi.org/10.5204/ijcjsd.1996
- Skilbrei, M-L. (2012). The Development of Norwegian Prostitution Policies: A Marriage of Convenience Between Pragmatism and Principles. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*, 9, 244–257. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-012-0096-z
- Skilbrei, M-L. & Holmström, C. (2011). Is There a Nordic Prostitution Regime? *Crime and Justice*, 40(1), 479-517. DOI: 10.1086/65984
- Skilbrei, M-L. & Holmström, C. (2016). *Prostitution Policy in the Nordic Region: Ambiguous Sympathies*. Routledge.
- Sobande, F., Kanai, A., & Zeng, N. (2022). The Hypervisibility and Discourses of 'Wokeness' in Digital Culture. *Media, Culture & Society*, 44(8), 1576–1587. https://doi.org/10.1177/01634437221117490
- Spanger, M. (2011). Human Trafficking as a Lever for Feminist Voices? Transformations of the Danish Policy Field of Prostitution. *Critical Social Policy*, 31(4), 517–539. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261018311410527
- St. Denny, E. (2014). "The Personal is Political Science": Epistemological and Methodological Issues in Feminist Social Science Research on Prostitution. *Journal of International Women's Studies*, 16(1), 76. https://bibsys-almaprimo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/961ef4/TN_cdi_proquest_journals_1 625138424
- Stella (2013). *Language Matters: Talking About Sex Work*. From: https://www.nswp.org/sites/default/files/StellaInfoSheetLanguageMatters.pdf
- Stenvoll, D. (2002). From Russia with Love?: Newspaper Coverage of Cross-Border Prostitution in Northern Norway, 1990—2001. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 9(2), 143–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350682002009002807
- Strøm, A. (2009). A glimpse into 30 years of Struggle Against Prostitution by the Women's Liberation Movement in Norway. *Reproductive Health Matters*, 17(34), 29-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-8080(09)34467-5

- Sullivan, B. (2003) Trafficking in Women, *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 5(1), 67-91, DOI: 10.1080/1461674021000056773
- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative Quality: Eight "Big-Tent" Criteria for Excellent Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16(10), 837–851 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410383121
- Vela, R. (2022). *What is Woke Culture?* Mars Translation. From: https://www.marstranslation.com/blog/what-is-woke-culture
- Veltmeyer, H. (2017). Civil Society and Development. In P.A. Haslam, J. Schafer & P. Beaudet (ed.). *Introduction to International Development Approaches, Actors, Issues, and Practice* (3d edition, p. 221-239). Oxford University Press.
- Vicente, A. (2016). Prostitution and the Ideal State. A Defense of a Policy of Vigilance. *Ethical Theory and Moral Practice*. 19, 475-487. DOI: 10.1007/s10677-015-9645-x.
- Wanjiru, R., Nyariki, E., Babu, H. *et al.* Beaten but Not Down! Exploring Resilience Among Female Sex Workers (FSWs) in Nairobi, Kenya. *BMC Public Health*, 22, 244-257 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13387-3
- Weitzer, R. (2005). New Directions in Research on Prostitution. *Crime Law Soc Change*, 43, 211–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-005-1735-6
- Weatherall, Ann & Priestley, Anna. (2001). A Feminist Discourse Analysis of Sex `Work'. Feminism & Psychology, 11, 323-340. DOI: 10.1177/0959353501011003005.
- Woke. (May 2nd, 2023). In *Merriam-webster.com*. From: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/woke
- Woke. (June 25th, 2017). In *Oxford English Dictionary*. From: https://public.oed.com/appeals/woke/
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of Quantitative and Qualitative Research Traditions: epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education*, 48(2), 311-325. DOI: 10.1111/ejed.12014

Appendices

Appendix 1: Interview guide

The interview guides were only guides, questions were adjusted as appropriate during the interviews.

Introduction to the study

- 1. Small talk
 - a. Interviewer introduces themselves, respondent gives their personal information.
- 2. Information about the study
 - a. Introduction of the purpose of the interview, background information.
 - b. Information about confidentiality and anonymization.

Questions specific to the organization and the respondent's affiliation

- 3. Background information about the organization
 - a. What is the name of the organization?
 - b. How long has the organization existed?
 - c. Size of the organization
 - d. What is the organization's vision/goal?
- 4. Respondent's affiliation with the organization
 - a. What is your position in the organization?
 - b. How long have you worked for the organization?
- 5. How does the organization assist individuals involved in sex work?
 - a. What experiences have they had over the years?
 - b. Who do they usually assist (information about gender, among other things)?
 - c. Experiences with women, men, and transgender individuals.
 - d. Primarily victims of human trafficking?

Views on laws and concepts related to buying and selling sex in Norway

- 6. What is the organization's stance on the sex purchase law in Norway?
 - a. What are the strengths/weaknesses?
- 7. How does the organization refer to individuals involved in sex work?
 - a. Why?
- 8. What does the organization think (among other things) about the concepts:
 - a. Sex work/prostitute
 - b. Pimp
 - c. Modern slavery
 - d. Victim/survivor

Collaboration with other organizations

- 9. What impact do the terms used have, in their opinion?
 - a. Construction of victims
 - b. Construction of gender
- 10. What do you think about coordination between organizations that assist victims of human trafficking and organizations that work more closely with prostitution?
 - a. What strengths/weaknesses do you find in this collaboration?
 - b. How can this collaboration be improved, in their opinion?

Summary

Summarize findings, ask for clarification, and open up for questions.

Appendix 2: Information letter & Consent form

This consent form is in Norwegian, and based guidelines from the website of NSD / Sikt.

Er du interessert i å delta i forskningsprosjektet

"The impact of language: An exploratory study of different discourses concerning people selling sex"

Dette er en invitasjon til deg om å delta i et forskningsprosjekt hvor formålet er å utforske holdninger og begrepsbruk til organisasjoner som jobber med mennesker involvert i sexsalg. I dette skrivet gir jeg deg informasjon om målene for prosjektet og hva deltakelse vil innebære for deg. Intervjuet kommer til å foregå på norsk.

Formål

Formålet med studien er å utforske hvordan debatter angående personer involvert i sexsalg kan ha ulike tilnærminger. Studien vil gå nærmere inn på hvordan organisasjonen stiller seg til sexkjøpsloven, hvilke begrep de velger/velger ikke å bruke, og hvorvidt de opplever at begrepsbruk skaper et kjønnet bilde av personer involvert i sexsalg. I tillegg kommer jeg til å stille noen spørsmål som går inn på hvordan dere opplever samarbeid med andre organisasjoner som jobber med samme tema. Intervjuet kommer til å danne datagrunnlaget for masteroppgaven min i Global Utviklingsteori, som jeg tar ved Universitetet i Bergen.

Jeg tar kontakt med deres organisasjon fordi dere jobber med personer involvert i sexsalg, og jeg er interessert i å høre deres meninger og synspunkt. Organisasjonen deres har blitt anbefalt av andre organisasjoner som jobber med samme tema.

Hva innebærer det for deg å delta

Jeg planlegger å gjennomføre et ustrukturert intervju, som har varighet på 45-60 minutter. Før og i løpet av intervjuet kommer du til å:

- Få informasjon om samtykkeskjema, anonymisering, taushetsplikt, og dataoppbevaring.
- Få spørsmål knyttet til organisasjonen du er ansatt i og din rolle i den.
- Få spørsmål om hvem dere for det meste bistår. For eksempel om det er mest kvinner fra Norge, om dere har kjennskap til om de blir utnyttet i menneskehandel, og så videre.
- Få spørsmål knyttet til organisasjonens visjon, mål og hvordan dere stiller dere til debatten knyttet til personer involvert i sexsalg.
- Bli tilsendt kopi av intervjuet, sitater jeg ønsker å bruke i masteroppgaven.

Det er frivillig å delta

Det er frivillig å delta i prosjektet. Hvis du velger å delta, kan du når som helst trekke samtykket tilbake uten å oppgi noen grunn. Alle dine personopplysninger vil da bli slettet. Det vil ikke ha noen negative konsekvenser for deg hvis du ikke vil delta eller senere velger å trekke deg.

Ditt personvern – hvordan vi oppbevarer og bruker dine opplysninger

Vi vil bare bruke opplysningene om deg til formålene vi har fortalt om i dette skrivet. Vi behandler opplysningene konfidensielt og i samsvar med personvernregelverket. Datamaterialet kommer til å bli oppbevart på en datamaskin som er passord beskyttet. Den eneste som kommer til å ha direkte tilgang til datamateriale er veilederen min Siri Lange. Råmateriale kommer til å bli oppbevart frem til 01.06.23 etter at jeg har fått levert og godkjent masteren min. Lydopptak kommer da til å bli slettet.

Jeg kommer ikke til å omtale deg ved navn i masteroppgaven min, men hvilken organisasjon du representerer og hvilken tilknytning du har kan forekomme.

Dine rettigheter

Så lenge du kan identifiseres i datamaterialet, har du rett til:

- innsyn i hvilke opplysninger vi behandler om deg, og å få utlevert en kopi av opplysningene
- å få rettet opplysninger om deg som er feil eller misvisende

- å få slettet personopplysninger om deg
- å sende klage til Datatilsynet om behandlingen av dine personopplysninger

Med vennlig hilsen	
--------------------	--

(Signert av prosjektdeltaker, dato)

Rebekka Mong Andreassen	Siri Lange
ran012@uib.no	siri.lange@uib.no
+47 93 60 24 05	+47 55 58 48 32
(Student)	(Veileder)
Samtykkeerklæring	
Jeg har mottatt og forstått informasjon om prosjektet til Rebekka M	ong Andreassen, og har
fått anledning til å stille spørsmål. Jeg samtykker til:	
□ å delta i et uformelt intervju	
☐ at intervjuet blir tatt opp	
☐ at opplysninger om organisasjonen jeg representerer samt m	in tilknytning publiseres
Jeg samtykker til at mine opplysninger behandles frem til prosjektet	t er avsluttet

Appendix 3: Approval from NSD / Sikt

12.05.2023, 10:53

Meldeskjema for behandling av personopplysninger



Meideskjema / Masteroppgave i Global Utviklingsteori / Vurdering

Vurdering av behandling av personopplysninger

 Referansenummer
 Vurderingstype
 Dato

 174294
 Standard
 02.012023

Prosjekttittel

Masteroppgave i Global Utviklingsteori

Behandlingsansvarlig institusjon

Universitetet i Bergen / Det psykologiske fakultet / Hemil-senteret

Prosjektansvarlig

Siri Lange

Studen

Rebekka Mong Andreassen

Prosjektperiode

01.12.2022 - 01.06.2023

Kategorier personopplysninger

Alminnelige

Lovlig grunnlag

Samtykke (Personvernforordningen art. 6 nr. 1 bokstav a)

Behandlingen av personopplysningene er lovlig så fremt den gjennomføres som oppgitt i meldeskjemaet. Det lovlige grunnlaget gjelder

Meldeskjema P

Kommentar

OM VURDERINGEN

Sikt har en avtale med institusjonen du forsker eller studerer ved. Denne avtalen innebærer at vi skal gi deg råd slik at behandlingen av personopplysninger i prosjektet ditt er lovlig etter personvernregelverket.

KOMMENTARER TIL INFORMASJONSSKRIVET

Informasjonsskrivet ser for det meste fint ut, men dato for prosjektslutt og anonymisering må rettes til å samsvare med dato oppgitt i meldeskjema (01.06.2023). I tillegg mangler student og veileders kontaktinformasjon, samt informasjon om UiB sitt personvernombud. Ta gjerne en titt på våre nettsider for hjelp til formuleringer: https://sikt.no/informasjon-til-deltakarane-i-forskingsprosjekt

FØLG DIN INSTITUSJONS RETNINGSLINJER

Vi har vurdert at du har lovlig grunnlag til å behandle personopplysningene, men husk at det er institusjonen du er ansatt/student ved som avgjør hvilke databehandlere du kan bruke og hvordan du må lagre og sikre data i ditt prosjekt. Husk å bruke leverandører som din institusjon har avtale med (f.eks. ved skylagring, nettspørreskjema, videosamtale el.)

Personverntjenester legger til grunn at behandlingen oppfyller kravene i personvernforordningen om riktighet (art. 5.1 d), integritet og konfidensialitet (art. 5.1. f) og sikkerhet (art. 32).

MELD VESENTLIGE ENDRINGER

Dersom det skjer vesentlige endringer i behandlingen av personopplysninger, kan det være nødvendig å melde dette til oss ved å oppdatere meldeskjemaet. Se våre nettsider om hvilke endringer du må melde: https://sikt.no/melde-endringar-i-meldeskjema

OPPFØLGING AV PROSJEKTET

Vi vil følge opp ved planlagt avslutning for å avklare om behandlingen av personopplysningene er avsluttet.

Lykke til med prosjektet!

https://meldeskjema.skt.no/6374e050-8d19-4739-9d6b-50454371c35e/vurdering

1/1

Appendix 4: Norwegian / English translation – Quotes

Page number	Quote in English	Quote in Norwegian
26	Prostitute is kind of what is most commonly used in our society. But I often say "they are not just that", just like the rest of us. We are not only a "mother" or a "student", but we are also all so much more. And we must be allowed to be defined as something more than just that. It is so stigmatized.	Prostituert er jo det som ligger litt i samfunnet vårt. Men jeg har jo det, som jeg ofte sier, de er jo ikke bare det. Som alle oss alle, vi er ikke bare «mor» eller «student», vi er så mye mer. Og vi må få lov til å bli definert som noe mer enn akkurat det. Det er så stigmatisert.
27	It is outdated and tied up to many different things. If you go into the [Norwegian] thesaurus and look at the results on "prostitutes" or "prostitute" it is really bad. It is used as a synonym to degrade oneself, to dirty oneself. It is also used to describe somebody that is "selling their souls", for instance about a politician that "prostitute" themselves meaning that they are "selling themselves" and thereof lacking values and integrity. It has become a synonym that describes an act that is wrong, dirty and lacking integrity, to that extend that it actually is a synonym in the thesaurus.	Det er utdatert, og det er knytta til mange ting. Hvis du går inn og leser på synonymordboka og leser på «prostituert» eller «prostituere» så er det skikkelig stygt. Det brukes synonymt om å nedgradere seg selv, skitne seg selv. Det brukes også om å «selge sjela si», for eksempel «en politiker som prostituerer seg», i forhold til å liksom «selge seg selv» handler om at man da gir bort sine verdier og ikke har integritet. Det har blitt et synonymbegrep som handler om å gjøre noe galt, og skittent og manglende integritet i så stor grad at det faktisk er et synonym da for begrepet i ordboka på en måte. Det prøver vi å ikke bruke.
27	That one is caught in a trap, and in the midst of something. That you are a victim, and not something else, and thereof reduced to somebody that does not have agency.	At man liksom sitter i en felle, sitter midt oppi no. Man er et offer og ingenting annet, og blir redusert til noe som ikke har selvråderett.
28	We care a great deal about terms, and we feel like we are on a journey of discovering new ones. We encourage to use terms like "persons that find oneself in prostitution" or "persons that sells sex", because we wish to use as neutral terms as possible and not put a label on other people.	Vi er ekstremt opptatt av begreper, og føler vi er på en reise med å oppdage nye begreper. Og vi oppfordrer veldig til å si «personer som befinner seg i prostitusjon» eller «personer som selger sex», fordi vi tenker at vi ønsker å bruke så nøytrale begrep som mulig og ikke sette merkelapper på folk.

28	We would say "exploited to prostitution", not for instance a prostitute. We do not use what word. We do not work with people that tell us "this is our profession".	Vi vil si utnyttet til prostitusjon, ikke en prostituert. Vi bruker ikke det ordet. Vi jobber jo ikke med folk som sier «dette er mitt yrke».
29	It is important for me, to underline that it is an experience, but you are not defined as a human being by this experience. You are defined in a whole other way.	Så det er viktig for meg, det er en erfaring du har, men du er ikke definert som et menneske ved å ha den erfaringen. Du er definert på en helt annen måte.
29	A lot of the research we do and our target group that we work closely with are the people that sell sex for money. We do not have a lot to offer strippers for instance, which could be perceived as sexworkers. () Pornography is at any rate a part of it. Pornographic actors, camming We have those conversations. To what extend to we represent that group, and to what extend should we represent people that do camming.	Veldig mye av den forskningen vi gjør, eller de gruppene som vi jobber tett på er jo de som selger sex for penger. Vi har ikke noe særlig med for eksempel strippere da, som kan bli sett på som sexarbeidere. () Pornografi er i alle fall en del av det [sexarbeid], da. Pornoskuespillere, camming, det er jo sånne samtaler vi har. I hvor stor grad representerer vi den gruppa, i hvor stor grad bør vi representere folk som driver med camming
30	Sex work is a choice. You kind of take the power of definition back with it. The power do define for yourself whether or not you are in a bad situation. () Carol Leigh invented the term, to highlight the economical bit of sex work and play down the morale bit. It is about people selling sex, for various reasons. All international human rights organisations, among others WHO and Amnesty, use this term.	Mens sexarbeid er et valg. Man tar liksom litt definisjonsmakten tilbake med det. Man tar litt tilbake makten til å definere selv om man har det kjipt eller ikke. () Carol Leigh oppfant det, for å få inn den økonomiske biten inn i sexarbeid og få bort den moralske biten litt. Det handler om personer som selger sex som må av ulike årsaker selge sex. Alle internasjonale menneskerettighetsorganisasjoner og lignende, for eksempel WHO, Amnesty, og videre har begynt å bruke begrepet.
30	We refrain from using sex work. It is because we believe that selling sex cannot be juxtaposed with other work, and it camouflages a part of the exploitation present in the sex industry. It is also very vague as of who is the worker, is it both the one selling and somebody that potentially exploits them like a pimp? () some people can find themselves in the sex industry before they turn 18. It is not the case then, that they turn 18 and come of age, and then turn into sex workers.	Når det gjelder sexarbeid så er vi klare på at vi avstår fra å bruke det. Det er fordi vi mener at det å selge sex ikke kan sidestilles med annet arbeid, at det kamuflerer litt den utnyttelsen som finnes i sexindustrien. Det er også veldig vagt hvem som er arbeideren, er det både den som selger og eventuelt den som utnytter noen som en hallik? Og så det er i alle fall en viktig begrunnelse. ()

		sexindustrien før de er 18. Da er det ikke sånn at på 18-årsdagen er de myndige og blir sexarbeidere.
32	I have never met anybody that has said "I am a victim of human trafficking", it is rather the opposite "are you stupid, do you believe that about me?". None of us wants to identify as a victim.	Jeg har aldri møtt noen som sier «jeg er et menneskehandelsoffer», mer det motsatte «er du helt teit, tror du det om meg?». Ingen av oss vil jo være et offer.
33	In the passive-victim-discourse, that you are a "junkie" that has to sell yourself to earn money to buy drugs, or a victim of human trafficking, there is a lack of looking at how strong they are. I would myself never survive on the streets, so it requires an immense power. It is strong people that find themselves in a form of exploitation, but by calling them "survivors" or "victims" you eradicate the right for them to be an acting subject, that finds themselves in a terrible life situation. (). They are essentially strong human beings that has made a choice, but this aspect is not included in the prostitution-debate.	Det tenker jeg også med begrepet «overlevende», hvor styrken ligger i at du klarte å kjempe deg ut. Men også i det passive-ofrediskursen, at man er en «junkie» som må selge seg for å få penger til dop, eller er et offer for menneskehandel, så er det fortsatt et veldig fravær av å se hvor sterke de er. Jeg hadde selv aldri overlevd på gata, så det trenger en enorm styrke. Det er jo veldig sterke mennesker som havner i en eller annen form for utnyttelsessituasjon, men med å kalle dem «overlevende» eller «ofre» fratar man dem rettigheten til å være handlende agenter, som er i en forferdelig livssituasjon.
34	It is very passivating and disempowering in the public discourse, which we try to avoid. We believe that people selling sex are fundamentally as capable as all other people. For instance, in speaking up for themselves, understanding their own situation, and making active choices. Rather than just being «passive victims» all the time.	Det er veldig sånn pasifisering, da. Og umyndiggjøring i den offentlige debatten, som vi også prøver å unngå da. Vi tenker i utgangspunktet at personer som selger sex er like kapable som alle andre. Typ det å snakke for seg selv, forstå sin egen situasjon, og at de tar aktive valg da. Istedenfor å bare være sånne «passive ofre» hele tiden.
35	The "content happy sex worker" is not presented as a strong woman, an entrepreneur – they are just a person that loves to satisfy men. It is also not a strong woman in that narrative, they are somebody that loves their job, money, and all their clients. Nobody loves their job in real life,	Den «lykkelige hora» er heller ikke presentert som en sterk kvinne, en entreprenør – det er bare en som elsker å tilfredsstille menn. Det er heller ikke en sterk kvinne i det narrativ [fra mediebildet] de er noen som elsker jobben sin, penger, og elsker alle kundene. Det er jo i realiteten ingen som elsker jobben sin.

35	I believe that we can lift self-respect by talking about them in another way then they have been told before, as well as value. It is very common to meet that wall of their own inner resistance, "what you are telling me is not the truth", "I do not matter, I am just trash". That kind of mental shift is not something that is done overnight.	Jeg tror at vi kan løfte selvrespekt ved å snakke om dem på en annen måte en det de har blitt fortalt før, og verdier ikke sant. Det er veldig vanlig å møte den veggen av deres indre motstand, «det du sier er ikke sant», «jeg betyr ingenting, jeg er bare søppel». Sånne ting. Sånn at det er ikke gjord over natta, å gjøre et sånt mentalt skifte.
35/36	It can be inclusive, because it is so important to include the voice of people that has experience with exploitation. In situations like these, being cautious with what terms we use can give persons the experience that there is room for them as well and that they have their own voice. We also believe that it can contribute to a positive change for policy development.	Det kan også være inkluderende, fordi det er så viktig å inkludere stemmen til personer som har erfaring med utnyttelse, og da kan det å være varsom med begrepene føre til at slike personer kan oppleve at det er rom for dem også og at de har mulighet til å være med inn og ha en stemme. Og når det kommer til utforming av politikk, så tror vi det [begrepene] kan være med på å bidra til positiv endring.
36	It has an impact on the groups physical and psychological health, and their opportunity to themselves participate in public discourse. It is harder to participate in this debate if you are constantly mentioned in ways that is unbearable and stigmatising.	Det har også en del å si for den gruppas egen helse og psykiske helse, og muligheten til å selv delta i den offentlige debatten. Hvis man hele tiden blir omtalt på måter som er uholdbart, stigmatiserende og kjipt, så blir det vanskeligere å delta i debatten.